Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 187 (2022) 114401

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/adr



Sustained delivery approaches to improving adaptive immune responses

Ben S. Ou^{a,1}, Olivia M. Saouaf^{b,1}, Julie Baillet^{b,f}, Eric A. Appel^{a,b,c,d,e,*}

^a Department of Bioengineering, Stanford University, Stanford 94305, USA

^b Department of Materials Science & Engineering, Stanford University, Stanford 94305, USA

^c Department of Pediatrics (Endocrinology), Stanford University, Stanford 94305, USA

^d ChEM-H Institute, Stanford University, Stanford CA 94305, USA

^eWoods Institute for the Environment, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94305, USA

^fUniversity of Bordeaux, CNRS, Bordeaux INP, LCPO, UMR 5629, Pessac 33600, France

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 19 February 2022 Revised 14 June 2022 Accepted 17 June 2022 Available online 21 June 2022

Keywords: Controlled release Vaccines Drug delivery Immunoengineering Immunotherapy

ABSTRACT

The immune system is one of the most important, complex biological networks regulating and protecting human health. Its precise modulation can prevent deadly infections and fight cancer. Accordingly, prophylactic vaccines and cancer immunotherapies are some of the most powerful technologies to protect against potential dangers through training of the immune system. Upon immunization, activation and maturation of B and T cells of the adaptive immune system are necessary for development of proper humoral and cellular protection. Yet, the exquisite organization of the immune system requires spatiotemporal control over the exposure of immunomodulatory signals. For example, while the human immune system has evolved to develop immunity to natural pathogenic infections that often last for weeks, current prophylactic vaccination technologies only expose the immune system to immunomodulatory signals for hours to days. It has become clear that leveraging sustained release technologies to prolong immunogen and adjuvant exposure can increase the potency, durability, and guality of adaptive immune responses. Over the past several years, tremendous breakthroughs have been made in the design of novel biomaterials such as nanoparticles, microparticles, hydrogels, and microneedles that can precisely control the presentation of immunomodulatory signals to the immune system. In this review, we discuss relevant sustained release strategies and their corresponding benefits to cellular and humoral responses.

© 2022 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	. 2				
2. The role of time on immune system activation and adaptive immune responses						
3.	Particulate delivery methods to achieve sustained delivery					
	3.1. Polymeric Nano/Microparticles	5				
	3.2. Polymeric micelles and polymersomes	7				
	3.3. Lipid-Based Nano/Microparticles	8				
	3.4. Other Particulate delivery vehicles	9				
	3.5. Summary of particle technologies	9				
4.	Hydrogels and depot forming delivery methods to achieve sustained delivery					
	4.1. Synthetic-based macroscopic hydrogels	. 10				
	4.2. Naturally-derived microscopic hydrogels	. 12				
	4.3. Microgels	. 12				
	4.4. Summary of hydrogel technologies	. 12				
5. Microneedles to achieve sustained delivery						
6. Other approaches to achieve sustained delivery						

* Corresponding author at: Department of Materials Science & Engineering, Stanford University, Stanford 94305, USA. *E-mail address:* eappel@stanford.edu (E.A. Appel).

¹ These authors contributed equally to this work.

7.	Outlook	15
	Declaration of Competing Interest	15
	Acknowledgements	15
	Competing Interests	15
	References	15

1. Introduction

The immune system serves as the first line of defense that recognizes and responds to pathogens such as parasites, bacteria, and viruses. As such, its dysfunction can result in a plethora of diseases including infections, cancer, autoimmune diseases, and AIDS. One of the first attempts to modulate the immune system was the invention of smallpox vaccines by Edward Jenner in 1796 [1]. Since then, vaccination has become one of the most effective public health interventions and has eradicated or prevented numerous deadly diseases including smallpox, poliomyelitis, measles, rubella, and tetanus. Nonetheless, the development of potent vaccines is still challenging and requires intense investigation for challenging diseases such as HIV, malaria, and tuberculosis as well as everchanging viral variants like influenza. Robust vaccine design strategies are even more important in the case of emerging pandemics like the one caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus for which strong protection and rapid worldwide distribution were urgently required. Additionally, new technologies such as cancer immunotherapies and cancer vaccines leverage modulation of the adaptive immune system to better eradicate cancerous cells. To properly mount humoral and cellular responses with lasting memory effector cells would require delicate and precise spatial and temporal control of the immunization processes, from innate cell activation to targeted and prolonged antigen processing and trafficking. Designing delivery carriers able to precisely control the release of vaccine components is therefore a key component in modulating and improving immune responses. Over the years, great advances in biomaterials engineering have resulted in relevant platforms which allow improved stability and loading of multiple drugs as well as controlled and customized delivery.

In this review, we focus on the role of sustained delivery of immunogens through different biomaterials in improving the adaptive immune response. We first describe how the adaptive immune response, comprising both humoral and cellular responses, is activated upon immunization and the ideal immune outcomes for protection against infectious diseases and cancer. We highlight relevant and recent findings that shed light on the importance of sustainably releasing immunomodulatory therapeutics in improving the potency, durability, and quality of the adaptive immune responses. We then discuss relevant macroscale, microscale, and nanoscale biomaterial strategies able to sustain the delivery of immunomodulatory therapeutics to achieve desired protection (Table 1). We finally describe synthetic and naturally derived materials with the ability to provide benefits such as depot formation, directed antigen trafficking, and time-controlled codelivery of multiple drug payloads. Coordination of these delivery parameters allows heightened adaptive immune responses with the potential to eradicate deadly diseases.

While other strategies on improving the adaptive immune response upon immunization (e.g., enhancing innate cell activations, controlling the spatial/location of the vaccines by targeted delivery of antigens to the lymph nodes) have been reported, this review focuses only on the modulation of the adaptive immune system through the extended delivery of immunomodulatory therapeutics [2]. Therapies such as checkpoint inhibitors that could also benefit from sustained delivery to keep relevant adaptive immune cells active do not activate nor mature adaptive immune cells and have been described elsewhere [3–5]. Therefore, this review focuses on sustained delivery of immunomodulatory therapeutics that are first processed by antigen-presenting cells before activating and maturing adaptive immune cells to harness those effector cells for protection against diseases.

2. The role of time on immune system activation and adaptive immune responses

Upon immunization, proper humoral and cellular immune responses, also known as adaptive immune response, require intricate coordination between cells across the body. Vaccine immunogens, such as antigens for prophylactics or neo-antigens for cancer, are first recognized by innate immune cells in the peripheral tissues. The immunogens are then either passively drained to the lymph nodes through the lymph or first processed by migratory antigen-presenting cells that travel to the lymph nodes (Fig. 1a/b). In the lymph nodes (LNs), B cells and T cells are activated and matured into effector cells. Antibodies produced by the effector B cells as well as matured cytotoxic T cells then travel throughout the body providing lasting protection.

The adaptive immune cells' activation in the lymph nodes is an elaborate process. For T cell activation, vaccine immunogens and migratory antigen-presenting cells reach the lymph nodes within hours. These peripheral antigen-presenting cells, such as migratory dendric cells (DCs), can present antigens directly to naïve T cells in the LNs or can transfer it, along with passively drained antigens, to the lymph node resident DCs. The activation and maturation of CD8⁺ T cells occur upon their interaction with the peptide-Major Histocompatibility Complex (Peptide-MHC) type I complexes on DCs as wells as with co-stimulatory signals and cytokines. Once activated, their interaction with CD4⁺ T cells directs their fate into short-lived effector cells (cytotoxic T cells) or memory cells. On the other hand, CD4⁺ T cells have to interact with Peptide-MHC type II complexes on the APCs, including B cells in the LNs (Fig. 1c).

B cell activation and maturation occur in B cell follicles. B cells can directly recognize soluble antigens traveling from the peripheral tissues; alternatively, follicular DCs (fDCs) can present antigens to naïve B cells by capturing and retaining antigens that are opsonized. Along with these antigens, B cells require T follicular helper cells (Tfhs), a subset of CD4⁺ T cells, to provide co-stimulatory signals for activation. Activated B cells then enter germinal centers (GCs) to undergo clonal expansion and somatic hypermutation to expand and diversify their antibodies genes. The positive selection undergone by these mutated B cells is necessary, as they compete for fDCs and Tfhs co-stimulatory signals for survival. Finally, matured B cells exit GCs as effector plasma cells for antibody production or as memory cells (Fig. 1d).

A successful prophylactic vaccine affording long-term protection would induce both humoral and cell-mediated immunities. High titers of neutralizing antibodies produced by plasma cells prevent pathogens from infecting host cells while cytotoxic T cells can kill infected cells. For life-long protection, it is necessary to generate robust memory B cells and memory T cells (Fig. 1e). Similarly, in the area of cancer immunotherapy, vaccination against cancer neo-antigens is emerging as a powerful therapeutic approach [28]. The vaccination of a patient against antigens

Table 1

Recent advances of biomaterials for sustained delivery of immunotherapeutic.

	Characteristics	Composition	Hydrophobic Cargo	Hydrophilic Cargo	In vivo time scale	Recent improvements	References
Particulates	- Mimic natural pathogens in size and shape	Polymeric materials such as poly(lactic- co-glycolic acid) (PLGA)	++	+	- Months <i>in vitro</i> - In vivo not quantified	- Encapsulating protein antigens without organic solvent improves hydrophilic cargo encapsulation	[51–53,55–59]
	- Improve uptake/targeting by APCs	Delumeric micellec			Woolre	- Precise control of the particles' size, shape, and surface chemistry	
	- Improve endosonial escape	Polymenc micenes	++	-	WEEKS	stability	[80-88,50,51]
	- Lymph noue targeting					- Adding specific non-covalent interactions at the end of the hydrophobic blocks to improve cargo loading	
		Polymersomes	++	++	- Months <i>in vitro</i> - At least a week <i>in vivo</i>	- Improve drug loading by conjugating a hydrophilic polymer to a hydrophobic drug	[32,95–98]
		Lipid based particles	++	++	Weeks	- PEGylation to prevent rapid clearance	[103–108,114,116,119]
						- Functionalized surface to improve cell- targeting	
						- Cubosomes and other geometries to improve drug loading and retained release	
Hydrogels	- Biocompatibility	Synthetic-based polymeric materials such as poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG), poly(D, L- lactide) (PLA), and PLGA	++	++	Months	- Injectable hydrogels	[148,150,155–157,165]
	- Depot formation					- Tunable hydrogels with co-delivery of physical- and chemical- distinct cargos	
	- Allow immune cell infiltration and interaction	Naturally derived materials such as hyaluronic acid, chitosan, alginate, DNA, and peptide	++	++	Months	- Initial burst release followed by sustained release mimic a prime-boost vaccination	[151,170,175,176]
						- DNA or peptide hydrogels are naturally adjuvanting	
Microneedles	- Do not require injection	Polymeric materials such as PLGA, polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP), polyvinyl	++	++	Weeks to Months	- Composite materials allow for burst and multistage release	[199–202,205,206]
	- Activate Langerhans and dermal dendric cells alcohol (PVA), poly(lactic acid) (PLA), poly (acrylic acid) (PAA), and other composite materials such as silk, chitosan, and sucrose				- Combining microparticle and microneedle technology		
						- Allow burst release at multiple timepoints with only one administration, eliminating multiple injections	



Fig. 1. Major components of the adaptive immune response to immunotherapeutic drug delivery. (a) Delivery of antigen and adjuvant attracts antigen-presenting cell (APC) migration to the initial site resulting in antigen uptake. (b) Activated APCs and soluble antigens traffic to the draining lymph node though the lymphatic system. (c) Within the draining lymph node, antigen-presenting cells activate naïve T cells to differentiate into helper, memory, and cytotoxic T cells specific to the antigen. Alongside T follicular helper cells, soluble antigens and APCs enter the B cell follicles to activate B cells. (d) B cells enter germinal centers and undergo an iterative process of positive selection for affinity maturation. In the dark zone, B cells undergo somatic hypermutation and clonal expansion. In the light zone, T follicular helper cells and follicular dendritic cells facilitate affinity selection, inducing apoptosis of low affinity B cells and promoting high affinity B cell production. Sustained antigenic information allows for numerous cycles of somatic hypermutation, clonal expansion, and affinity selection resulting in B cells that produce high affinity antibodies. (e) Adaptive immune cells exit the lymph node in the form of memory B and T cells, cytotoxic T cells, and plasma cells that continue to produce high affinity antibodies.

occurring on cancerous cells could provide long term immunity against cancer recurrence. Potent cancer vaccines should mount a large population of effective cytotoxic T cells that could recognize and kill cancerous cells.

The duration of an administered immunomodulatory therapeutic can have great effect on the immune response to these inputs [3]. While natural infections can result in persisting viral materials in the LNs for up to weeks to even months, antigens and other therapeutics from the initial administration of traditional vaccines are often cleared within days [6–9]. Mimicking natural infections by prolonging the presentation of immunomodulatory therapeutics to immune cells is therefore a key element to achieve potent and robust immune responses. A long-used supplement to a vaccine is the adjuvant, a moiety that can draw migratory immune cells to the site of injection [10]. One of the first used and most prevalent adjuvants, alum (aluminum hydroxide or aluminum phosphate), was initially chosen to stimulate immune response and was thought to act as a depot that could adsorb and slowly release antigens [11]. However, numerous studies confirmed that alum's success in initiating immune response is not tied to its adsorption and retention of antigens. Early work showed that antigens adsorbed on alum stayed for less than 3 days at the injection site [12]. More recently, Brewer and co-workers confirmed that an alum depot site was not required by showing similar immune responses when the alum-antigen depot was surgically removed 2 h after injection in mice compared to no resection [13]. Though not all antigens bind securely with alum, phosphorylated proteins interact tightly to alum via electrostatic interactions [14]. This strategy was used to adsorb HIV envelope (Env) immunogens to alum, allowing their presence at the injection site for 3 weeks,

compared to the 3-day duration of free antigen [15]. Moreover, greatly increased germinal center B cell responses as well as neutralizing antibody responses have been observed. Though alum is not always a depot forming vehicle, this work demonstrates the potential for depot antigen retention and slow release to improve vaccine response.

A number of groups have developed relevant strategies to provide extended exposure of immunomodulatory therapeutics [9,16-18]. A novel approach by the Irvine group using osmotic pumps to deliver vaccine continuously over periods of days to weeks elegantly demonstrated the immunomodulatory effects of sustained delivery. Exponentially increasing doses of HIV antigens over a period of 1-2 weeks elicited over 10-fold increase in antibody production as compared to bolus injection. Moreover, the prolonged presence of antigens in LNs resulted in the production of higher affinity antibodies as well as increased amount of Tfhs and germinal center B cells in murine [9] and rhesus monkey models by fine needle aspiration [16]. Slow delivery has a drastic effect on B and T cell development in GCs of the draining LNs, starting with inducing higher frequencies of total and antigen specific GC Tfhs. The larger population and duration of Tfhs in GCs combined with a longer duration of antigen presence by fDCs enable greater and more diverse antigen specific B cell production. Extended B cell production and somatic hypermutation exponentially lead to more opportunities for B cells to develop specificity for less immune dominant antigen epitopes that are usually outcompeted by easily accessible but non neutralizing epitopes. As a result, antibodies produced by the extended timeline vaccination in rhesus monkeys targeted both neutralizing and non-neutralizing epitopes, whereas antibodies from the bolus group heavily favored non-neutralizing epitopes. This finding demonstrates that sustained delivery of antigens is essential for developing neutralizing responses to historically difficult pathogens. In context, B cells only undergo around 10-20 rounds of somatic hypermutation from traditional bolus vaccines, while at least 40-100 rounds of mutations are necessary to generate broadly neutralizing antibodies against HIV, demonstrating the importance of slow delivery and extending GCs activity [19–22]. Other studies have also pointed out the importance of sustained release on cellular immunity, showing that slow delivery of antigens significantly increased the number of cytotoxic and memory T cells [23-27]. This led to improved anti-tumor activities as well as enhanced recall activities.

However, the delivery of vaccines by osmotic pump requires the patient to either undergo surgical implantation or wear an external device for the entire duration of delivery, being therefore cumbersome and challenging with regards to patient compliance. Alternative materials carriers that can be administered without the necessity of a wearable device have been developed to fill this need and involve common delivery methods such as injection or application of a small patch. This review will discuss the use of micronanoparticles, injectable hydrogels, microneedles, and other novel materials to provide sustained delivery of immunomodulatory therapeutics to elicit adaptive and protective immune responses.

3. Particulate delivery methods to achieve sustained delivery

Nanoparticles (NPs) and microparticles (MPs) have been extensively explored as drug delivery platforms in immunomodulatory biomaterials research for the release of immunomodulatory therapeutics in vaccines and cancer therapy over the past 30 years [28– 40]. The control of their size, shape, and surface composition as well as their ease of manufacturing, biocompatibility, and high surface area make these particles ideal candidates for targeted antigen-presenting cell (APC) uptake and lymphatic drainage while maintaining lower systemic concentrations (Fig. 2) [33,41]. More importantly, the encapsulation or adsorption of vaccine materials and cancer therapeutics can provide sustained kinetics compared to traditional bolus administration eliciting more potent immune responses. This section describes the latest achievements of sustained and targeted delivery using particles-based carriers.

3.1. Polymeric Nano/Microparticles

Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) is one of the longest and most extensively studied synthetic polymers due to its biocompatibility as demonstrated by US FDA approval and its clinical human use in resorbable sutures as well as grafts and prosthetic devices [42]. To date, PLGA is considered one of the most successful biodegradable polymers for the controlled delivery of a wide range of molecules including drugs, proteins, and vaccines [43,44]. The controlled release of materials is predominantly dictated by the erosion of the co-polymer by ester hydrolysis leading to biocompatible and metabolizable monomers (lactic acid and glycolic acid). Moreover, the degradation of the co-polymer and thereby the rate of release can be precisely tuned by altering the composition, the molecular weight, and the chain-end functionality of the copolymer as well as the crystallinity of the particles [45–50]. The benefits of PLGA nano- and microparticles in altering the timeframe of release from days to months and in enhancing cellular uptake of cargos have been widely reported in literature. However, while the encapsulation of small hydrophobic drugs can be easily performed in organic solvents, vaccine antigen entrapment would require mixing aqueous antigens with dissolved polymers in organic media, therefore limiting the compatible antigen choices. A number of groups have circumvented this issue by using organic solvent-free methods and demonstrated improved protein stability in PLGA particles [45]. Schwendeman and co-workers have designed a method of microencapsulating model vaccine antigens ovalbumin and tetanus toxoid in aqueous conditions [51,52]. Biomacromolecules diffusing through open pores of PLGA particles can be trapped by spontaneous pore closing due to the passive healing of PLGA above the glass transition temperature. The resulting self-healing PLGA microparticles improved antigen structural stability and bioactivity with sustained release over 28 days and longer. Moon and co-workers successfully applied this technique to the sustained release of ovalbumin antigen (OVA) over more than 40 days [53]. A single dose of microspheres elicited a comparable cellular and humoral responses in mice to that measured from prime-boost vaccinations with an equivalent total dose of antigen. Notably, compared to both prime-boost PBS control and calcium phosphate gel clinical control, the single immunization microparticle group with extended release elicited greater number of antigen specific CD8⁺ T cells as well as comparable total IgG titers.

Additional novel approaches such as PRINT technology (particle replication in nonwetting templates) have also been developed to improve antigen stability and to precisely modulate PLGA particles' physicochemical characteristics in terms of size, shape and surface chemistry [54]. This platform has been commercialized by Liquidia Technology and several vaccine formulations for dengue virus and influenza both in animal and human models showed promising results such as robust neutralizing titers [55–57]. Similarly, Jacklenec and co-workers have designed original PLGA cubic microparticles using SEAL process (StampEd Assembly of polymer Layers) [58,59]. In contrast to single-layer geometries such as PRINT, each cube displays an internal enclosed cavity which allowed a sustained and pulsatile release of STING agonist cGAMP at anticipated time points mimicking multiple injections. A single injection of these microparticles showed an antitumor efficacy comparable with multiple injections of STING agonist solutions such as increase in tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs). Similar number



Fig. 2. Particulate Delivery Methods to Achieve Sustained Delivery. (a) Particles can encapsulate or tether vaccine and drug cargo to prolong exposure by reducing clearance as well as improve delivery to lymph nodes. (b) Self-healing poly(lactic acid) (PLA) microspheres can be used for controlled encapsulation and prolonged delivery. Upon infrared irradiation to increase local temperature to 38 °C, above the glass transition temperature of the PLA, rearrangement and healing of the pores on the surface of the microspheres leads to the formation of microcapsules for efficient encapsulation of molecular cargo [73]. (c) Sustained co-delivery of leukemia-associated epitope peptide (Eps8) and checkpoint inhibitor (anti-PD-1) was achieved with these microspheres. (d) Delivering microspheres co-encapsulating Eps8 and anti-PD-1 significantly increased activity of CD8⁺ T cells (indicated by CD69⁺ population) compared to soluble group, demonstrating superior cytotoxic effects. (e) Illustration of manose-functionalized lipid-hybrid polymersomes for co-delivery of antigens and dual agonist molecules [95]. (f) Sustained release of vaccine antigen ovalbumin (OVA) was achieved with these polymersomes, where 80% of the antigen was released over the course of roughly one month. Only when the polymer matrixes were dissolved or degraded to form pores can the encapsulated OVA diffuse through the barriers and be released.

of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell populations were found within the TILs between the microparticle and the control 3-times injection groups (with equivalent total cCAMP dosage) after inoculating mice with B16F10 tumor cells. Increased number of memory T cells and circulating IFN- γ^+ CD8⁺ T cells were also observed, inducing systematic antitumor immunity and preventing metastasis. This system can be applied to any hydrophilic or hydrophobic drugs and can deliver different drugs for combination cancer therapies, opening a new exciting and promising field in cancer treatments.

Particulate delivery vehicles also allow precise sustained codelivery of antigens with adjuvants for subunit vaccines to improve immunogenicity [32,60–62]. For example, Hu and coworkers designed a viral capsid-like hollow PLGA nanoparticle for synchronized delivery of vaccine antigen and adjuvant [63]. The particles are comprised of cyclic diguanylate monophosphate (cdGMP), a canonical STING agonist adjuvant encapsulated in the aqueous core, and the MERS-CoV RBD antigen grafted onto the surface for the development of a MERS vaccine. Compared to soluble RBD antigens formulated with free STING agonists or MF59, a potent adjuvant used in influenza vaccine, these nanoparticles enhanced antigen presentation and cellular uptake by APCs and induced a balanced Th1/Th2 immune responses while reducing systemic reactogenicity. A protection against lethal MERS-CoV challenges in highly MERS-CoV-permissive transgenic mice has also been demonstrated. Other examples of utilizing particles to sustainably co-deliver therapeutics to improve humoral or cellular responses include Allahverdiyev and co-workers who reported a strong humoral responses against visceral leishmaniasis when co-delivering lipophosphoglycan and leishmania antigens over more than 30 days compared to both antigens released separately [64]. Similarly, Cruz and co-worked showed the synergistic antitumor effect of co-delivering TLR agonists R848 and poly(I:C) with CCL20 chemokine MIP3α with PLGA nanoparticles alongside TC1vaccine upon inoculating mice with TC1 tumor [65]. Sustainably delivering these TLR agonists increased the number of circulating antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells leading to better mice survival compared to vaccination alone.

Over the years, numerous efforts have been made to functionalize PLGA particles, mostly for targeting purposes to achieve more specific and efficient responses. One of the most common

modifications the is surface PEGylation to avoid rapid clearance in the blood stream [66,67]. The release of small hydrophobic molecules can be controlled by tuning the surface texture of PLGA- b-PEG microparticles [68]. As example, PLGA-b-PEG blended with a small amount of PLGA increased microparticles roughness and thereby the rate of drug release. In addition to its stabilization effect, PEGylation can be used to tune and optimize the release timeframe. Other targeted approaches involve the use of mannose for improved antigen-presenting cell uptake, hyaluronic acid for CD44 targeting, chitosan for enhanced cell adhesion and uptake, and antibodies for specific cell receptors targeting [69]. Zheng and co-worked demonstrated the benefit of using surface mannose-modified PLGA nanoparticles to improve humoral and cellular responses compared to unmodified nanoparticles when slowly delivering hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) [69]. Panyam and co-workers reported the sustained co-release of a TLR7/8 adjuvant derivative encapsulated into PLGA nanoparticles mixed with ovalbumin antigen for cancer immunotherapy [70]. The nanoparticles induced a better antigen presentation due to the aggregation of the positively charged antigen on the surface of the nanoparticles. Moreover, a more potent T cell response with increased dendritic cell migration and activation in draining lymph nodes as compared to the free molecules has been observed leading to metastasis reduction in different tumor models. Similarly, Appel and co-workers demonstrated an anticancer efficacy by tethering the TLR 7/8 agonist on the surface of nanoparticles [71].

Besides PLGA, other polymers have been developed as carriers for the delivery of immunomodulatory therapeutics. Its main derivative, poly(lactic acid) (PLA), has also been extensively used for years to control the release of biomolecules in a wide range of biomedical applications [72]. Li and co-workers designed gigaporous PLA microspheres encapsulating leukemia-associated epitope peptide (epidermal growth factor receptor pathway substrate 9 gene (Eps8)) as neo-antigen and PD-1 antibody checkpoint inhibitor for new therapeutic leukemia vaccines (Fig. 2b-d) [73]. Microspheres allowed for the sustained release of both biomolecules over 5 weeks compared to the rapid clearance observed after a bolus injection. They also demonstrated higher effect on chemokines upregulation and increased number of APCs recruitment. According to the authors, this phenomenon could be due to the inflammatory response caused by the exogenous macroscale formation, implying thereby the retention of microcapsules at the injection site. With favorable APC responses and five-fold increase of therapeutics found in the lymph nodes released sustainably, CD8⁺ T cells population was massively increased with improved activity (CD69⁺ CD8⁺ T cells) for the microcapsules treated mice compared to control groups. A single subcutaneous injection of microcapsules in mice inoculated with human leukemia cells (Nalm6/Eps8⁺ cells) suppressed leukemic blast populations in peripheral blood, bone marrow and spleen, thereby increasing survival rate compared to bolus administration. Similar results were obtained with different types of leukemia cell lines, xenograft models, antigens or even mixtures of neo-antigens, highlighting the potential of this platform as immunotherapy approach for the treatment of leukemia. Polyanhydride-based particles have also been explored due to their biocompatibility and have been used for bovine brucellosis, pneumonic plague, as well as influenza vaccines delivery [74–76]. While the hydrophobic monomers resist bulk erosion due to water penetration, anhydride bonds hydrolyze causing the particles to undergo surface degradation [77]. This slow degradation can result in month long release of the encapsulated vaccine cargos [78]. Notably, Narasimhan and co-workers developed polyanhydride nanoparticles for internasal delivery of F1-V antigen against respiratory disease caused by Yesinia pestis [79]. F1-V release kinetics were found to be sustained for up to 70 days and led to improved antibody titers and long-term

protection against lethal challenge. Poly(propylene) sulfide is another well studied polymer due to its sensitivity to a variety of chemicals as well as oxidoreduction conditions, making it a good candidate for precise and controlled drug delivery [80]. Thomas and co-workers developed a programmable two stage drug delivery using poly(propylene) sulfide nanoparticles and thiol-reactive oxanorbornadiene linkers carrying small molecular cargos [81]. These sensitive linkers can undergo fragmentation by retro Diels-Alder reaction at different and controlled rates depending on the substitution pattern on the oxanorbornadiene. Following the uptake of nanoparticles and their transport to lymph nodes, the cargos could be sustainably released in a programmable manner within the lymph nodes, facilitating lymphatic delivery and access of molecules to lymphocyte subpopulations. Even though poly (propylene) sulfoxide has been already used for several years [50.82.83], applying a double-stage controlled delivery could further modulate the adaptive immune response.

To date, polymeric nanoparticles are considered as one of the most successful nanocarriers for drug delivery thanks to their biocompatibility, tunability, long term safety, size control as well as surface functionalization for targeting purposes. This is especially useful to maximize targeting to APCs for improved adaptive immune cells' modulation. Depending on their nature, they can encapsulate and deliver a wide range of biomolecules, in a sustained and even co-sustained manner. The choice of polymers is an important key factor that should be precisely chosen and tuned to achieve relevant encapsulation efficiency, stability of nanoconstructs and release profiles [84].

3.2. Polymeric micelles and polymersomes

Self-assembled polymeric systems composed of amphiphilic block co-polymers have been widely studied for drug delivery. Among them, polymeric micelles are core shell nanostructures comprising a hydrophilic shell and a hydrophobic core that can encapsulate a variety of hydrophobic molecules [85]. They have been widely used as nanocarriers mostly for the delivery of cancer therapeutics and some of them have entered in preclinical trials [86,87]. Chen and co-workers designed polymeric micelles from an amphiphilic deblock co-polymer of poly(2-ethyl-2-oxazoline)-PLA combined with carboxylterminated-Pluronic F127 for the codelivery of OVA and TLR7 agonist CL264 [88]. A sustained delivery of the adjuvant encapsulated into the hydrophobic core for more than 2 days as well as the maintenance of the antigen conjugated onto the surface over 3 days have been observed. Interestingly, micelles displaying a carboxylated surface were more effectively internalized by dendritic cells than bolus or hydroxylatedmicelles due to scavenger receptors known to recognize negatively charged substances. Moreover, the pH-sensitive property of poly (oxazoline) facilitated endosome escape and cytosolic release of antigens, improving thereby MHC I antigen presentation. Carboxylated micelles led to higher Th1 responses due to increasing antigen cross-presentation to CD8⁺ T cells by elevated numbers of CD4⁺ T cells. Immunization with these micelles in E.G7-OVAbearing mice demonstrated an inhibition of tumor growth and better survival. However, the in vivo instability of micelles in large dilution volumes and their dissociation by proteins leading to their rapid clearance once intravenously injected can limit their use [89]. Core-crosslinked micelles have demonstrated an improved stability for the sustained release of drugs [90]. The loading ability of small hydrophobic molecular cargos can also be improved by adding specific non-covalent interactions at the end of hydrophobic blocks such as π - π stacking [91].

In contrast to polymeric micelles which can only encapsulate hydrophobic drugs, polymersomes can be used to simultaneously encapsulate and deliver both hydrophilic and hydrophobic drugs thanks to their double hydrophobic layer and aqueous core [92]. Often compared to liposomes, they have shown to have a better colloidal stability as well as a better cargo retention efficiency [93]. While a multitude of studies have reported the use of stimulus-responsive polymersomes for the rapid release of immunomodulatory therapeutics within a specific location [94], some groups have highlighted their use for sustained delivery. A sustained co-delivery of antigens and TLR agonist adjuvants from mannose-functionalized lipid-hybrid polymersomes has been reported by Zhang and co-worker (Fig. 2e-f) [95]. The nanoconstructs comprise a combination of two TLR agonists activating different pathways encapsulated within the hydrophobic bilayer (TLR 7/8 agonist imiquimod, R837) and the lipid layer (TLR4 agonist monophosphoryl lipid A, MPLA). OVA was encapsulated in the aqueous core and adsorbed on the outer surface via electrostatic interaction with cationic lipids. This strategy allowed a double stage of release of the antigen with a rapid initial release (20%) for antigen exposure to prime immune responses followed by an extended release over more than 20 days for long-term memory antibody and cellular responses. The polymersome-formulated vaccines activated dendritic cells by enhancing antigen uptake and lysosome escape compared to the free molecules. Moreover, the use of mannose enhanced the cellular uptake and the migration to the draining lymph nodes for better dendritic cells activation compared to non-targeted nanoparticles. Improved APC uptake and activation as well as prolonged and targeted antigen delivery by these mannose-targeted polymersomes resulted in elevated splenocyte and lymphocyte proliferation and activation, boosting antigen specific T cell responses. A significant reduction and suppression of tumor growth as well as the improvement of survival time even after re-challenging have been demonstrated, offering new promising vaccine formulation for cancer immunotherapy. Interestingly, compared to solid-core poly(propylene sulfide) nanoparticles, Hubbel and co-workers have demonstrated enhanced frequencies of antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cells when using OVA-encapsulated polymersomes [96]. In contrast to the nanoparticles, polymersomes failed to elicit robust CD8⁺ T cell responses. The observed differences in T cell activation by these two types of particles were speculated to be due to the activation of different subsets of antigen-presenting cells. Interestingly, a synergistic effect combining strong CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell responses when co-administrating these two systems has been demonstrated, giving new insights on the direct role of the nanoconstruct's effect on the immune response. Similarly, antigen encapsulated in polymersomes showed better CD4⁺ T cell activation and induced a higher frequency of CD4⁺ T follicular helper cells compared to antigens grafted onto the surface of nanoparticles [97]. Recently, a polymer-prodrug conjugate of poly(ethylene glycol) and TLR7/8 agonist self-assembling into a polymersomelike vesicle showed potent and long-lasting immune stimulation in terms of interferon expression at the injection site and in draining lymphoid tissue when slowly delivering the adjuvant over several days [98].

However, while polymersomes show great promises especially thanks to their ability to escape from endosomes, they can also suffer from low drug loading, implying successive injections are necessary to reach a therapeutic effect. Some strategies to improve drug loading have been reported such as the conjugation of a hydrophilic polymer to a hydrophobic drug which self-assembles into polymersomes [32].

3.3. Lipid-Based Nano/Microparticles

Lipid-based particles such as liposomes, lipid nanoparticles and nanoemulsions have been extensively exploited for the delivery of immunomodulatory therapeutics [99–102]. Their inherent

biocompatibility combined with their adjuvanting properties make them successful as adjuvant systems as demonstrated by the FDA approved lipid-based adjuvants such as MF59 (squalene-based emulsion) and AS01 (saponin and TLR4a MPLA based-liposome) or the well-known Freund's adjuvants or ISCOMatrix [60]. In addition to their potency, the surface of lipid-based particles are often functionalized with carbohydrates such as mannose for celltargeting approaches [103]. Liposomes hold great promises due to their ability to mimic the morphology of cellular membranes and to deliver both hydrophobic and hydrophilic bioactive molecules [104]. Several liposome formulations are under clinical trials for cancer treatment or clinically used as vaccines delivery platforms for influenza, human papilloma virus, hepatitis A and SARS-CoV-2 virus [105,106]. Interestingly, cationic lipid-based liposomes have been shown to form a depot at the injection site once injected, avoiding the rapid clearance of antigens and thereby improving their exposure to immune cells [104.107]. The cationic nature of lipids allows the electrostatic adsorption of the antigen and the aggregation of vesicles at the injection site. Similarly, pegylation is the gold standard to prevent the rapid clearance of nanoparticles in vivo resulting in improved antibody response [108]. However, Perrie and co-workers observed that highly pegylated functionalized liposomes resulted in a faster drainage and a lower immune response compared to the non-pegylated ones [109]. The steric stabilization induced by pegylation reduced the aggregation of vesicles and thereby the depot effect. Therefore, an adequate balance of pegylation should therefore be used to take advantage of both the depot effect and enhanced antibody titers. Recently, Dietrich and co-workers developed a two-stage lipidbased delivery system for enteric diseases [110]. After a parenteral immunization, a fast release of retinoic acid from neutral liposomes and its drainage to lymph nodes allowed for their preconditioning followed by the sustained release of OVA from the depot formed by the cationic liposomal with CAF01 adjuvant. This twostage delivery platform induced an antigen-specific intestinal IgA response, making it a relevant strategy for the development of vaccines against enteric diseases.

Despite their structural similarities with liposomes, lipid nanoparticles are considered a separate class of lipid-based particles in which ionizable lipids are organized into inverted micelles to encapsulate nucleic acids. Lipid nanoparticles are the most extensively used lipid-based system for gene regulation and the delivery of nucleic acids in cancer therapy and vaccines [111-114]. However, even if the use of lipid-based particles for the sustained release of drugs has been widely reported, only a few studies investigated its quantification [115-118]. Irvine and coworkers developed interbilayer-crosslinked multilamellar vesicles for pulmonary vaccination [115]. The lipid nanocapsules were formed from an equivalent mixture of DOPC (1,2-dioleoyl-snglycero-3-phosphocholine) and MPB (1,2-dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-p hosphoethanolamine-N-[4-(p-maleimidophenyl)butyramide]) in which OVA and either TLR3 agonist poly(I:C), TL4 agonist MPLA or the combination of the two adjuvants were encapsulated. One week after intratracheal immunization, nanocapsule-delivered antigen was still detectable in the draining mediastinal lymph nodes, allowing sustained exposure of vaccine components and prolonged antigen presentation. Pulmonary immunization increased antigen transport to draining lymph nodes compared to subcutaneous vaccination. Compared to bolus administration. nanocapsules enhanced the frequency of OVA-specific CD8⁺ T cells in the reproductive tract and gut. Hook and co-workers originally designed cubosomes composed of phosphatidylcholine in which TLRs agonists imiquimod (TLR7a) and MPLA (TLR4a) were entrapped [116]. When cubosomes were mixed with OVA, a significantly extended release over more than 10 days could be observed compared to a liposome formulation. Combined with a retained

release, a higher encapsulation efficiency as well as OVA-specific cellular responses and equivalent humoral responses were reported compared to liposomes, making cubosomes an interesting candidate for the sustained delivery of vaccines [119].

As shown in the previous examples, the ability of cationic or ionizable lipids to interact with nucleic acids via electrostatic interactions has consequently been widely explored for the delivery of mRNA vaccines [120,121]. Liposomes and lipid nanoparticles show great promises as delivery carriers for the effective encapsulation and protection of mRNA. Naked mRNA can be degraded by enzymes leading to its rapid clearance in vivo and suffers from low translation efficiency into the cytoplasm [121]. When delivered in lipid nanoparticles in mice, mRNA displayed a protein production half-life of 30 h and high protein protection for up to 10 days [122]. Moreover, the sustainably delivery of mRNA into the cytosol for its translation into proteins can be easily achieved via endosomal escape by these particles. These advantages have led to the design of a multitude of lipid-based systems that are in clinical trials or clinically used as mRNA vaccines carriers against Influenza, Rabies, or Zika viruses [102,123]. Notably, this technology has been adopted and is currently broadly distributed by Moderna and Pfizer-BioNTech who rapidly received an emergency use authorization for their lipid nanoparticles carriers for the prevention of COVID-19. Its rapid development, clinical translation and distribution have proven to be crucial during a pandemic. Similarly, to mRNA prophylactic vaccines, lipid-based nanocarriers have been widely reported for mRNA cancer vaccines [114], highlighting these nanoparticles as highly valuable platforms in immunotherapy.

3.4. Other Particulate delivery vehicles

Other nanoparticle systems have been developed for the sustained release of immunomodulatory therapeutics. Dendrimers such as poly(amidoamine), poly(ethylenimine) and poly(L-lysine) have been explored due to their ability to form complex with nucleic acids and proteins [124–127]. These hyperbranched symmetric polymers arranged in a tree-like fashion around a core can escape from endosomes and be sensitive to low pH environments through sensitive linkers or protonation, facilitating the release of drugs. Notably, cationic dendrimers have been reported as nanocarriers for the delivery of mRNA vaccines [128]. A few studies have reported a sustained and extended release over several days [129–133]. Recently, Steinmetz and co-workers enhanced the antitumor efficacy of the plant viral nanoparticle cowpea mosaic virus (CPMV) when slowly delivered from polyamidoamine generation 4 dendrimer [133]. The sensitivity of aggregates formed by electrostatic interactions between negatively charged CPMV and positively charged polyamidoamine towards salts allowed for the disassembly of microparticles once injected in vivo leading to the release of the virus. Following an intraperitoneal injection in a mouse model of ovarian cancer, CPMV-based dendrimer particles remained in the intraperitoneal space over more than 14 days and have been proved to be as effective at reducing disease burden as compared to weekly administration of soluble virus. While the interaction of CPMV-based dendrimers with the immune system has not been reported yet, CPMV has been shown to improve effector and memory CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell responses and to promote systemic tumor-specific cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cell activity with the dendrimer providing continuous antigen presence in the intraperitoneal (IP) space leading to prolonged immune stimulation [134,135].

Similarly to dendrimers, nanogels have also been designed for the delivery of biomolecules. Nanogels are tri-dimensional networks of chemically or physically crosslinked polymers entrapping a large volume of water. Even if the majority of hydrogels are macroscopic in size, they can be designed as nano sized particles combining therefore the advantages of hydrogels and nanoparticles [136]. While a wide variety of nanogels have been develop ed to effectively and rapidly deliver drugs within specific areas under a stimulus [137–141], only a few studies have reported and quantified a sustained delivery of antigens and its impact on modulating the immune response [142]. Nanogels have the ability to by-pass the blood brain barrier to deliver drugs when administrated intranasally, making them a promising alternative to deliver vaccines in a non-invasive manner [143,144].

3.5. Summary of particle technologies

In summary, on top of sustained and prolonged delivery of antigens for weeks to months, particulate delivery vehicles allow for co-delivery of vaccine antigens and adjuvants, enhanced APC cell targeting and activation, endosomal escape for better cellular responses, and precise size control for improved drainage to the lymph nodes. Nano- and micro-particles as sustained delivery carriers have been successfully used for years, some of them being currently used in clinic. However, many reported sustained delivery time scales were determined via in vitro studies. Consequently, the timescale for sustained delivery may be significantly shorter due to innate immune cells phagocytosing the particles. Nonetheless, some reports of tracking of polymersomes in vivo in mice demonstrated prolonged and persistence depot at the injection site as well increased accumulation of vaccine components in the draining LN, albeit cleared quicker than what was found in vitro [95]. Moreover, the PLA microparticle based Lupron Depot, a clinical used hormone therapeutics, could maintain its therapeutics for up to 6 months, further demonstrating the ability for nano- and micro-particles to sustained delivery.

Another challenge is the influence of a specific nano-construct in terms of morphologies and the improvement of the adaptive immunity remains unclear considering the large number of studies reporting most of the time different polymer compositions, adjuvants, or injection routes. Additionally, it remains unclear to what extent does sustainably delivering immune therapeutics via these particles improves the adaptive immune response given their other positive attributes in improving targeting and drainage. A better understanding on the temporal control of antigen availability through the use of these particles should therefore be investigated.

4. Hydrogels and depot forming delivery methods to achieve sustained delivery

Hydrogels provide a highly tunable platform for the spatiotemporal control of drug delivery. Consisting of a polymer network swollen in a large amount of water, they lend itself to biocompatibility with many tissue systems [145]. Their biggest strength relies on their injectability (shear-thinning and self-healing properties) and the formation of instantaneous depots within the body for a sustained release of drugs and even immune cell infiltration and interaction with the network [146–149]. For prophylactic vaccine delivery, depot formations better mimic natural viral infection by creating a local high antigen concentration for a long duration, thereby eliciting a stronger immune response. They allow for sustained exposure of the viral protein antigen to the immune system, imitating the weeks-to-months persistence time of a virus in the body and allowing for prolonged affinity maturation [150]. The polymeric materials for hydrogel, whether synthetic, natural or bio-derived, are selected not only for their biocompatibility but also for their mechanical properties, ability to contain and release drugs on relevant timescales, and potential for immune cell infiltration [3,150]. Tuning these parameters allows the temporal controlled delivery of a wide variety of drugs, from viral subunit vaccines to cancer immunotherapeutics, for modulation of the adaptive immune system (Fig. 3, Fig. 4) [145,148,150,151].

4.1. Synthetic-based macroscopic hydrogels

Synthetic-based hydrogels have been extensively developed as carriers thanks to their reliability, stability, ease of manufacturing and high tunability [41,152,153]. Among the multitude of existing polymers, poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) as well as poly(lactic-coglycolic acid) (PLGA) and their derivative are the most commonly used due to their FDA approval or their extensive use as drug delivery carriers [154]. Qian and co-workers designed a biodegradable poly(D, L-lactide)-poly(ethylene glycol)-poly(D, L-lactide) hydrogel vaccine for cancer immunotherapy [155]. B16F10 tumor cell lysates antigen, CpG-ODN TLR9 agonist, and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) mixed in the hydrogel could be slowly released over the course of 5 to 7 days. Compared to a bolus administration, hydrogel vaccines improved activation and maturation of dendric cells as well as prolonged inflammatory cytokines secretion, all of which are important factors in improve cellular immune responses. Improved tumor inhibition and

increased survival rate in C57BL/6 or BALB/c mice bearing B16F10 melanoma or C26 colorectal tumor models were observed. Similarly, Yang and co-workers delivered OVA along with an aluminum based adjuvant in Vitamin E-poly(ethylene glycol)-Vitamin E 'ABA' triblock hydrogel to C57BL/6 mice [156]. Gel-vaccinated mice showed higher concentration of anti-OVA antibodies than mice given bolus vaccine injections, demonstrating the ability of a depot forming hydrogel to prolong antigen release. Recently, Wang and co-workers developed an original poly (ethylenimine)-graphene oxide hydrogel for the sustained release of OVA encoding mRNA and TLR7/8 agonist resiquimod (R848) for durable cancer therapy [157]. Both antigens and adjuvants were effectively encapsulated in the network thanks to strong non-covalent electrostatic and π - stacking interactions. Interestingly, the supramolecular hydrogel is not stable at the interface when embedded in liquid solution and transformed into nanoparticles slowly releasing from the network over 30 days. This technology combined with a sustained co-release of vaccine components over 14 days improved the level of OVA-specific antibodies in B16-OVA melanoma C57BL/6 mice, suggesting that hydrogels could inhibit tumor and prevent tumor recurrence or metastasis formation.



Fig. 3. Injectable hydrogels can simultaneously prolong the release of drug cargo and attract immune cells to create an immunological niche. (a) Diagram of (i) drugloaded hydrogel injection into subcutaneous space, (ii) slow release of drug cargo into the body accompanied by immune cell recruitment and gel infiltration, and (iii) eventual dissolution and clearance of the hydrogel niche. (b) Appel and co-workers characterized the local inflammatory niche resulting from *in vivo* administration of subunit vaccines in nijectable polymer-nanoparticle (PNP) hydrogels [148]. Numerous immune cell types, including a very large number of APCs, were recruited and found to infiltrate into vaccine-loaded hydrogels than empty gels. The choice of adjuvant in this PNP hydrogel system resulted in recruitment of a specific population of DCs called cDC2s, which are known to be important for initiating Tfh cell responses and enhancing humoral immunity. (c) Sung and co-workers observed immune cell infiltration on nanocomposite hydrogels containing TMC nanoparticles. Histological samples taken over a month-long period showed increasing cell count in the materials over time [151].



Fig. 4. Hydrogels can release antigen for extended periods of time, resulting in increased immune activation. (a) Antigens released over prolonged timeframes from hydrogels are taken by APCs to the lymph nodes. The sustained antigen presence here induces prolonged germinal center responses where more cycles of somatic hypermutation and affinity selection result in higher affinity antibodies. (b-d) Appel and co-workers imaged germinal center responses to prolonged, hydrogel-based vaccination [148]. (b) Immunohistochemistry images of explanted inguinal lymph nodes 15 days after vaccine administration either in a saline bolus or in one of two hydrogel formulations (a "weak" gel releasing over the course of roughly 2 weeks, and a "strong" gel releasing over the course of roughly 4 weeks) shows germinal centers (red) and naïve B cells (green). (c) Hydrogel groups show increased presence of IgG1 + class switched germinal center B cells, indicating gel administration leads to more protective humoral immune responses. (d) Vaccine administration in stronger gels with prolonged exposure led to the highest number of antibodies administered antigen as compared to weaker gels and a simple saline bolus. (e-g) Wang and co-workers delivered tumor cell lysate (TCL) antigen and adjuvant in an injectable polypeptide hydrogel [176]. (e) Fluorescently labeled TCL antigen images show that the hydrogel (f) enhances antigen accumulation in lymph nodes. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

Besides, some hydrogel networks can be formed through noncovalent interactions between nanoparticles and polymers [158-161]. They leverage the benefit of hydrogels as depots for sustained and controlled drug delivery as well as nanoparticles for the potential improved presentation to dendritic cells and drainage into the lymph nodes. Appel and co-workers designed an injectable supramolecular polymer-nanoparticle (PNP) hydrogel composed of dodecyl-modified hydroxypropylmethylcellulose and poly(ethylene glycol)-b-poly(lactic acid) (PEG-PLA) nanoparticles for the sustained co-delivery of subunit vaccine components (Fig. 3b, Fig. 4b-d) [148]. The dynamic nature of the network allowed for rapid depot formation once injected and allowed for extended co-delivery of physicochemically distinct vaccine cargo by physically constraining their diffusion within the network's polymer mesh. The sustained delivery of co-formulated model antigen OVA and poly(I:C) adjuvant in C57BL/6 mice resulted in infiltration of immune cells into the hydrogel, enhanced magnitude and duration of germinal center response as well as antibody affinity maturation leading to increased antibody titers compared to bolus injection. Hydrogels displaying the highest stiffness demonstrated

the persistence of OVA at the injection site depot for weeks rather than days, with a retention half-life of 7.7 days. Moreover, the codelivery of the clinically relevant hemagglutinin influenza antigen and a TLR7/8 agonist derivative adjuvant enhanced the potency and breadth of humoral immune response compared to clinical controls [150]. As a small molecule, TLR7/8 agonist was tethered on the nanoparticles surface to achieve matched diffusion kinetics and co-delivery of adjuvant with antigen. This modular platform allows the cargo diffusivity and thereby the immune response be tuned by changing the hydrogel mechanical properties [162]. This PNP hydrogel has the potential as a sustained delivery platform for a diverse array of vaccines and immunomodulatory cargo as Appel and co-workers have also demonstrated improved SARS-CoV-2 vaccine immune responses [163,164]. Other examples include Wei and co-workers' utilization of hydrogels composed of poly(D, L-lactide)-poly(ethylene glycol)-poly(D, L-lactide) (PLA-PEG-PLA) triblock copolymers with the patient's own tumor tissues neoantigens and light-responsive adjuvant-encapsulated nanoparticles containing TLR7/8 agonist resiguimod (R848) and TLR9 agonist CpG-ODN for cancer therapeutics [165]. Following its injection into

the tumor resection cavity in BALB/c mice bearing 4 T1 tumor, the hydrogel formed a depot and retained nanoparticles at the injection site. Upon exposure to near-infrared light, the light-sensitive unit led to ablation of tumor tissue to produce antigenic materials and to the sustained release of adjuvants over more than 6 days. This cancer vaccine produced strong DC and CD8⁺ T-cell response and inhibited lung metastasis in a breast cancer mouse model.

4.2. Naturally-derived microscopic hydrogels

In contrast to synthetic-based materials, natural systems such as hyaluronic acid, chitosan or alginate have become a great interest in immunotherapy thanks to their inherent biocompatibility and bioactivity [166–171]. Sung and co-workers developed an injectable hyaluronic acid-catechol-based hydrogel to provide sustained delivery of the model antigen OVA encased in *N*-trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles (Fig. 3c) [151]. The authors hypothesized that initial burst release of OVA nanoparticles followed by gradual uptake of the remaining antigen by gel-infiltrating immune cells would mimic a prime-boost vaccination schedule in which two doses of vaccine are administered 4 weeks apart. Hydrogels increased dendritic cell maturation and cytokine release and generated higher antibody titers than both single dose OVA and prime-boost OVA in C57BL/6 mice as a result of extended delivery. Incorporation of OVA nanoparticles into the hydrogel greatly extended its in vitro release from 70% in one day to 40% in 6 days. Moreover, remaining OVA nanoparticles trapped in the gel could recruit dendritic cells and macrophages to infiltrate the injection site for 30 days. The hypothesized burst release likely occurred because of non-instantaneous gelation after injection in liquid like-form, leading to an unformed network minutes post injection. Mooney and co-workers developed injectable alginate-based porous and tough cryogels for cancer vaccines [170]. Tough materials were obtained through covalent crosslinking of methacrylatedalginate and ionic interactions with a high concentration of calcium ions. The gels displaying both crosslinking approaches showed to be injectable compared to covalently-crosslinked ones thanks to the dynamic nature of ionic interactions. After an initial burst release, a sustained delivery of TLR9 agonist CpG-ODN and granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factors over at least 2 weeks has been demonstrated. When co-encapsulating OVA as a model antigen, cryogels induced stronger antigen-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte, higher anti-OVA IgG and anti-HER2/neu antibody titers, and significantly higher survival rate compared to blank cryogels in C57BL/6 mice inoculated with HER2/neuoverexpressing DD breast cancer cells. Interestingly, the distance from the vaccine scaffold to the draining lymph nodes was found to affect the kinetics of the antibody response. While 80% of the vaccinated mice remained tumor free for more than 150 days after tumor challenge when cryogels were injected near the lymph nodes, only 40% survived when implanted farther. The injection site is then a key aspect for effective immune responses.

In addition, hydrogels derived from DNA or peptide are of great interest thanks to their bioactivity and adjuvanting properties [172–174]. Nishikawa and co-workers designed cholesterolmodified DNA hydrogels for the sustained release of antigens to increase antigen-specific cancer immunity [175]. Modified ureadenatured OVA antigen was used to better interact with cholesterol-functionalized DNA through hydrophobic interaction. The chemical modification of OVA and DNA hydrogels greatly delayed the release of antigens from almost 100% of release in 5 h to 50% in 25 h and increased the remaining antigen quantity at the injection site. While hydrogels induced little acute local inflammation, they inhibited the growth of EG7-OVA tumor in C57BL/6 mice compared to saline solutions of OVA or modified-OVA as well modified-OVA encapsulated in unmodified DNA hydrogels. According to the authors, the higher antitumor effect of modified DNA-OVA system could be due to the enhancement of resident time of antigens at the injection site and its sustained release from the immunostimulatory DNA hydrogel. Wang and co-workers delivered tumor cell lysate with TLR3 agonist and poly(I:C) adjuvants in a polypeptide hydrogel to prolong the duration of antigen persistence at the injection site and recruit immune cells to the depot (Fig. 4e-g) [176]. The delivery system was able to recruit, activate, and mature dendritic cells and promote strong CD8⁺ T-cell response, as well as suppress tumor growth in C57BL/6 mice bearing B16 melanoma tumor model.

4.3. Microgels

Not only have depot-forming macroscopic hydrogels been extensively used for sustained vaccine delivery, but microgels as drugs carriers have also been reported [177,178]. These materials consist of granular discrete hydrogels on the scale of 10's to 100's of microns and can encapsulate various drug cargo similarly to macroscopic hydrogels [179]. Compared to conventional hydrogels, they benefit from a larger surface area which can be functionalized, and they do not undergo liquid-to-gel transition during injection through needles thanks to their small size, potentially reducing the incidence of burst release. Several groups have designed microgels for the controlled delivery of biomolecules and more particularly of proteins thanks to their hydrophilic nature [180–185]. Even if microgels have not been clearly defined as depots, they can be used as reservoirs for the sustained release of vaccine components and form depots after injection if individual microgels interact and aggregate. Ma and co-workers developed pH-responsive chitosan-based hydrogel microparticles to release H5N1 split antigen [186]. Microgels were able to slowly deliver antigens over 48 h at neutral pH and allowed immune cell infiltration due to their discontinuous nature. The implanted materials formed an antigen depot which could recruit inflammatory cells at the injection site, resulting in increased bone marrow derived dendritic cell activation as well as higher IgG antibodies and hemagglutination inhibition titers compared to standard formulations comprising alum or liposaccharide adjuvants. While this class of materials is growing in interest and demonstrating utility for vaccine delivery, they require precise synthesis approaches as particles that are too large can be challenging to administer by injection.

4.4. Summary of hydrogel technologies

In summary, Hydrogels are promising platforms for the delivery of immunomodulatory therapeutics. The variability and countless structures available as well as their high tunability in terms of mechanical properties enable adaptation to a wide range of different cargos. The formation of depots in vivo allows for a sustained release of antigens and cells infiltration, being the key factors for promoting better immune responses. Though natural polymers offer great biocompatibility, they can suffer from batch-to-batch dependency and low mechanical properties, limiting therefore their use as delivery cargos. Synthetic and naturally derived hydrogels have been extensively reported thanks to their tunability and robustness. Some constructs derived from peptides, DNA or carbohydrates can be made bioactive or immunostimulatory by the presence of specific moieties such as RGD peptides, CpG-ODN, or mannose, enhancing immune cell activation and response. Often injectable, hydrogels can be easily administered through the ubiquitous route of needles, allowing for easy adoption by medical professionals. Recent findings suggest that the geometry of the injected hydrogel depot could affect release kinetics, with spherical depot demonstrating the most sustained release time scale,

highlighting that care must be taken in the design of the mechanics of the materials to enable robust depot formation and precise depot persistence to ensure consistency of administration to achieve desired immunological outcomes [187].

5. Microneedles to achieve sustained delivery

Microneedles consist of patches of micron scale needles that can be placed on the surface of the skin for transcutaneous delivery of drug cargos [188-199]. These devices consist of needle-like structures with diameters microns wide and up to 900 μ m in length [191]. Microneedles pierce the uppermost layer of the skin (epidermis) to allow the delivery of drug cargos that would not travel across the skin by passive diffusion alone. They provide an attractive alternative to standard hypodermic needle vaccine deliverv route which comes with the risk of accidental needle sticks. production of hazardous sharps, and prevalent fear of needles across patients. Microneedles allow for near painless administration due to their microscale size and can be self-administered. They can serve as an extended delivery vehicle by slowly dissolving to release cargos embedded in the needle structure or carrying cargos coated on the surface of non-dissolving needles. Unlike hydrogels, they do not allow for immune cell infiltration, but still form a depot that dissolves slowly to release drugs over many days. Additionally, microneedles provide direct access to the populations of antigen-presenting immune cells that reside in the skin including Langerhans cells and dermal dendritic cells [189]. Furthermore, extensive network of lymphatic vessels in the dermis help promote immune activation [189]. Numerous microneedles have been adapted and developed for the temporal delivery of vaccines and showed promising results to enhance the immune response (Fig. 5) [200-209].

Prausnitz and co-workers have measured the immune response following the application of dissolving sodium carboxymethyl cellulose/sucrose microneedles as well as the release of antigens compared to bolus injections. After 15 min. microneedles dissolved off of the patch backing and were sufficiently hydrated and soft to remain inside the skin. The complete dissolution of microneedles and antigen release occurred over a longer unspecified period. This study provided a unique way of investigating extended delivery: microneedles, intradermal injections, and intramuscular injections were given for multiple days over an extended period of time and compared to bolus single administration of the same vaccines. A low dose of Fluvirin subunit influenza vaccine administered to BALB/c mice every other day for 28 days via dissolving microneedles resulted in higher total influenza-specific IgG titers than bolus prime, bolus prime-boost, and shorter microneedle deliveries. This work laid the groundwork for using microneedles as extended vaccine delivery vehicles but did not examine the kinetics of single administration microneedles. Chen and co-workers provided more insights on the dissolution and delivery kinetics of microneedles through the design of poly(lactic acid) supporting array to support model antigen OVA-loaded chitosan microneedles, with a fastdissolving polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) layer in between (Fig. 5ce). Upon insertion into Sprague Dawley rats dorsal skin, the interfacial PVP coating dissolved, leaving the chitosan microneedles embedded in the skin. Histological analysis showed antigen presence in the surrounding skin for up to 14 days. A single microneedle dose induced long-lasting and significantly higher OVA-specific antibody titers than intramuscular vaccination. Similarly, Hammond and co-workers used a combination of burst and sustained release to induce OVA-specific CD8⁺ T-cell response and anti-OVA antibody production (Fig. 5f-h) [202]. Composite microneedles consisting of poly(acrylic acid) (PAA) and silk, each mixed with OVA were fabricated. Following their implantation into C57BL/6 mice, the PAA block dissolved and its OVA loading was cleared from the application site in 24 h while OVA embedded in the silk remained present for over two weeks. This combination of burst and extended releases resulted in higher levels of both CD8⁺ Tcell response and anti-OVA antibody production than bolus intradermal injection.

Vaccination against influenza has the potential to greatly benefit from injection free delivery methods such as microneedles [200,205–208]. Annual flu shots create copious amounts of sharps waste and cause needle-related distress in children and adults alike. Early studies showed that delivering inactivated influenza through dissolving microneedles in mice induced superior protective immune responses compared to those obtained with intramuscular injection at the same dose [205]. Birchall and coworkers delved further into the immune response in the skin itself and analyzed gene expression in human skin samples immunized with influenza virus-like-particles coated on microneedles [206]. The authors observed that genes responsible for cell recruitment, migration, activation, and T cell stimulation were upregulated in surrounding cells. This evidence supports the use of microneedles as an effective influenza vaccination system and improves modulation of the immune system. A phase I clinical trial reported the successful administration of inactivated influenza vaccine via dissolvable polymer microneedle patch, resulting in the same efficacy of seroprotection as achieved by intramuscular injection [208]. Furthermore, patients reported less pain and a preference for the microneedle patch over the shot. These findings indicate that microneedle patches are a viable alternative to administer the influenza vaccine.

Not only have microneedles been extensively developed as vaccines carriers, but Gu and co-workers have also investigated their use for cancer immunotherapy [199]. Hyaluronic acid-based patch encapsulating tumor lysates as neo-antigen, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) as adjuvants, and melanin were fabricated. Upon remotely near-infrared (NIR) light emission, melanin allowed for local release of heat between 38 °C and 42 °C, generating a hyperthermic-mimicking environment that recruited and activated immune cells such as dendritic cells at the injection site. In vitro studies showed that while adjuvants were rapidly released from the microneedles within 48 h, antigens were slowly delivered over 5 days, suggesting the formation of antigens depot. In a prophylactic mouse model, patches loaded with B16F10 whole tumor lysate were transdermally implanted on the caudal-dorsal area of C57BL/6 mice and submitted to localized NIR irradiation for 10 mins every day for 5 days. Patches remained in the skin for at least 5 days. 10 days after vaccination, mice were inoculated with B16F10 melanoma cells. Mice receiving the combo patches containing tumor lysates, adjuvants, and NIR irradiation showed long-term survival and enhanced tumor rejection compared to blank patches or incomplete vaccination. Moreover, vaccination delayed distant tumor growth and improved survival rate in other tumor models such as BRAF^{V600E}mutated BP melanoma and triple-negative breast cancer 4 T1 carcinoma tumor highlighting the versatility of this approach in inducing effective immune responses toward different tumors.

Microneedles have proven to be a valuable strategy to provide extended delivery of vaccine components and immunotherapies. They can be tuned to provide steady extended release or timecontrolled burst release of their cargoes. They are well-tolerated, causing minimal skin irritation or pain, and most of the time preferred compared to injections [210,211]. However, these platforms pose some challenges in terms of manufacturing and safety. Microneedles require careful fabrication to create such sharp structures, implying most of the time several steps of manufacturing. They must also be kept safely packaged to avoid damaging their microstructure. Additionally, they often require formulation of



Fig. 5. Microneedles allow for prolonged delivery of drug cargo without injection via hypodermic needle. (a) The main types of microneedles are dissolving (drug formulated in solid form that makes up the needles themselves), coated (needle substrate coated with drug in solid film form), hollow (hollow needle conduit allows liquid drug formulation diffusion or injection), and solid (solid microneedles are inserted and removed to permeabilize skin, then drug is applied topically). (b) Dissolving microneedles containing antigen are (i) applied to the skin and (ii) release needles from the supporting array (typically within minutes). (iii) These microneedles dissolve over time, releasing antigen and (iv) eventually disappear. (c) Chitosan microneedles on top of a PLA base array allow for stable delivery and quick separation from the base into the skin where microneedles can persist for up to 14 days [201]. (d) Microneedles containing OVA formulated with and without a protein stabilizer (trehalose) demonstrated extended release in a week-long *in vitro* experiment, though following different release profiles. (e) Microneedle-administered OVA elicited higher antigen-specific IgG responses than did a standard intramuscular saline bolus. (f) Microneedles consisting of a rapidly dissolving PAA base and longer persisting silk tip were fabricated to provide an initial burst release followed by extended delivery [202]. (g) Pure PAA microneedles were shown to release nearly all ovalbumin cargo in the first hours after injection, acting as a burst, while silk microneedles extended delivery of a portion of the OVA antigen over the course of a week. (h) Administration of antigen-loaded PAA-silk microneedles (MN-PAA-Silk) elicited a significant increase in antigen specific CD8 + cells compared to intradermal injection of a saline bolus.

solid cargos and may require additional steps to support the encapsulation of new cargos. Even though microneedles are well tolerated, the degradation and metabolism of polymer fragments *in vivo* is still unclear and needs more investigation to ensure their complete safety as delivery carriers.

6. Other approaches to achieve sustained delivery

Besides the materials mentioned in the previous sections, original peptide nanofibers displaying adjuvanting properties have been reported by Collier and co-workers [212–216]. These engineered nanosystems can be internalized in antigen-presenting cells and raised strong antibody responses without the need of adjuvants. Besides their use as intranasal vaccines [212], hybrid polymer-peptide nanofibers formulated with sugar and adjuvants as tablet vaccines easily dissolvable under the tongue induced antibody responses against the model epitope pOVA and and the *M. tuberculosis* epitope ESAT6 [215,216]. These self-adjuvanting fibers are promising nanomaterials delivery platforms that can be administrated via several routes without adjuvants. Moreover, inorganic materials have also proven to be interesting candidates for the sustained delivery of immunotherapeutic materials and have been reported elsewhere [41,217,218]. Briefly, mesoporous silica rods as well as gold, iron, silica nanoparticles or quantum

dots are one of the most reported scaffolds. They usually combine the properties of organic-based systems such as hydrogels and some specific and relevant physico-chemical features for drug delivery. The high porosity, injectability and formation of depots after injection provided by mesoporous silica rods allow them to act as a reservoir for the controlled release of immunotherapeutics [13,25-27]. Moreover, their ability to rearrange after injection induces dendritic cell infiltration and eventual draining to lymph nodes, in which they have shown to enhance T cell response [219]. On the other hand, the ease of functionalization, welldefined structures, versatility, and optical, electric or hyperthermic properties of inorganic nanoscale systems create unique opportunities to modulate the immune response [220]. Furthermore, some inorganic materials can display adjuvanting properties, such as alum, which allow them to serve as delivery vehicles and immunostimulatory systems [221]. However, the toxicity and clearance of inorganic scaffolds in vivo is still under debate and can limit their translation into advanced clinical trials. Over the years, numerous efforts have been made to design biodegradable or clearable inorganic nanoparticles but challenges in terms of metabolism processes and fragments toxicity still need to be fully elucidated [222].

Hybrid organic–inorganic scaffolds such as metal organic frameworks have also been reported as delivery carriers [223– 225]. These highly crystalline structures composed of zinc, cobalt or iron display some relevant characteristics such as easy modification, large surface area, and tunability in terms of pore sizes. Numerous groups have been interested in using metal organic frameworks to protect and improve stability of proteins and to control the delivery immunotherapeutics [226–230]. Recently, Sung and co-workers reported biomimetic aluminum-based metal organic frameworks encapsulated in yeast capsules for the sustained release of OVA through oral vaccination, giving exciting perspectives for new delivery vaccination routes [231]. However, the lack of data regarding the biocompatibility and toxicity of metal organic frameworks can limit their further use in clinical applications.

7. Outlook

Over the years, vaccine technology has benefited from the tremendous efforts of research groups and industries in designing more effective strategies to modulate the immune system. Besides choosing the right combination of antigens and adjuvants, the nature of the delivery platform is a key element in improving the quality, potency, and durability of immune responses. An increased number of vaccine delivery nanocarriers have proven their efficacy and are currently being studied in clinical trials or are already in use. This field is growing even more with the recent FDA approval of mRNA vaccines which marks a new era in vaccinology and offers exciting opportunities to bring new material scaffolds into clinical trials. While vaccines have become the gold standard in the treatment of infectious diseases and are expanding into cancer therapy, certain challenges remain. The modulation of the adaptive immune responses when slowly delivering immunomodulatory therapeutics has been shown to be effective in creating stronger and broader humoral and cellular responses. The formation of a depot for slow cargo release into which immune cells can infiltrate and better interact with the bioactive molecules appears to be a valuable asset for improving immune responses. The different delivery platforms ranging from nanoparticles to microneedles and hydrogels presented in this review constitute the exciting frontiers of sustained drug delivery. While hydrogels directly fall into depot forming vehicles, growing evidence suggests that microneedles as well as nano- and microparticles can remain at the injection site for long period of time, allowing for immune cell interaction even if they don't necessarily involve cell infiltration into a 3D matrix. While nano- and microparticles typically have a much shorter *in vivo* release time scale than other sustained delivery platforms, they nonetheless still present other attractive characteristics such as improved uptake by APCs as well as endosomal escape to improved cross-presentation. Numerous synthetic and engineering strategies for all sustained delivery technologies have been proposed to precisely control drug release in time and space, some of them even mimicking multiple injections. These great achievements must first succeed in clinical trials before becoming available for public use.

To facilitate broad adoption and improve patient compliance, concerns have been turned to the administration method. While injections are still the medical standard, their ubiquitous use suffers from patient fatigue and/or fear and production of biohazardous sharps waste. Traditional hydrogels still mostly require to be injected subcutaneously or implanted surgically. Over the past few years, the formulation of sprayable systems in the mucosal cavity has proven to be a promising alternative to overcome these limitations. Nanoparticles and microneedles benefit from additional administration routes. Microneedles can be self-applied to the skin and have been reported to be preferred and less painful than a traditional injection; nonetheless, their potential in scaling up is limited by their cumbersome manufacturing process. Similarly, while nanoparticles can still be injected intravenously, intramuscularly, or subcutaneously, they can also be sprayed in the nasal cavity, applied topically or mucosally (e.g., buccal), or administrated orally. As seen through the studies referenced in this work, innovation in the drug delivery materials space provides not only greatly improved immune responses through sustained delivery, but also varied routes of administration that can revolutionize yearly vaccines and cancer immunotherapies alike.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

This work was financially supported by the Center for Human Systems Immunology with the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (OPP1113682; OPP1211043; INV027411), the American Cancer Society (RSG-18-133-01-CDD), the Goldman Sachs Foundation (administered by the Stanford Cancer Institute, SPO# 162509), and a Bio-X Interdisciplinary Initiatives Seed Grant. B.S.O. is grateful for a Eastman Kodak Fellowship. O.M.S. is thankful for a National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship. J.B. is thankful for a Marie-Curie fellowship from the European Union (H2020; No. 101030481).

Competing Interests

E.A.A is listed as an author on several pending patent applications related to work described in this review filed by Stanford University (PCT/US2019/054070; PCT/US2021/032575; PCT/ US2021/055897; Provisional 63/159,416). All other authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

E. De Gregorio, R. Rappuoli, From empiricism to rational design: a personal perspective of the evolution of vaccine development, Nat. Rev. Immunol. 14 (2014) 505–514.

B.S. Ou, O.M. Saouaf, J. Baillet et al.

- [2] G.A. Roth, V.C.T.M. Picece, B.S. Ou, W. Luo, B. Pulendran, E.A. Appel, Designing spatial and temporal control of vaccine responses, Nat. Rev. Mater. (2021).
- [3] K. Adu-Berchie, D.J. Mooney, Biomaterials as Local Niches for Immunomodulation, Acc. Chem. Res. 53 (2020) 1749-1760.
- L. Cai, J. Xu, Z. Yang, R. Tong, Z. Dong, C. Wang, K.W. Leong, Engineered [4] biomaterials for cancer immunotherapy, MedComm 1 (2020) 35-46.
- [5] F. Yang, K. Shi, Y.-P. Jia, Y. Hao, J.-R. Peng, Z.-Y. Qian, Advanced biomaterials for cancer immunotherapy, Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 41 (2020) 911-927.
- [6] W.-H.-W. Lin, R.D. Kouyos, R.J. Adams, B.T. Grenfell, D.E. Griffin, Prolonged persistence of measles virus RNA is characteristic of primary infection dynamics, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109 (2012) 14989–14994.
- D.L. Turner, L.S. Cauley, K.M. Khanna, L. LefrançOis, Persistent Antigen [7] Presentation after Acute Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Infection, J. Virol. 81 (2007) 2039 - 2046
- [8] T.S. Kim, M.M. Hufford, J. Sun, Y.-X. Fu, T.J. Braciale, Antigen persistence and the control of local T cell memory by migrant respiratory dendritic cells after acute virus infection, J. Exp. Med. 207 (2010) 1161-1172.
- [9] H.H. Tam, M.B. Melo, M. Kang, J.M. Pelet, V.M. Ruda, M.H. Foley, J.K. Hu, S. Kumari, J. Crampton, A.D. Baldeon, R.W. Sanders, J.P. Moore, S. Crotty, R. Langer, D.G. Anderson, A.K. Chakraborty, D.J. Irvine, Sustained antigen availability during germinal center initiation enhances antibody responses to vaccination, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 113 (2016) E6639-E6648.
- [10] D.J. Irvine, A. Aung, M. Silva, Controlling timing and location in vaccines, Adv. Drug. Deliv. Rev. 158 (2020) 91-115.
- [11] M. Mold, E. Shardlow, C. Exley, Insight into the cellular fate and toxicity of aluminium adjuvants used in clinically approved human vaccinations, Sci. Rep. 6 (2016) 31578.
- [12] R.K. Gupta, A.C. Chang, P. Griffin, R. Rivera, G.R. Siber, In vivo distribution of radioactivity in mice after injection of biodegradable polymer microspheres containing 14C-labeled tetanus toxoid, Vaccine 14 (1996) 1412-1416.
- [13] S. Hutchison, R.A. Benson, V.B. Gibson, A.H. Pollock, P. Garside, J.M. Brewer, Antigen depot is not required for alum adjuvanticity, Faseb j 26 (2012) 1272-1279
- [14] S. Iyer, H. HogenEsch, S.L. Hem, Relationship between the degree of antigen adsorption to aluminum hydroxide adjuvant in interstitial fluid and antibody production, Vaccine 21 (2003) 1219-1223.
- [15] T.J. Moyer, Y. Kato, W. Abraham, J.Y.H. Chang, D.W. Kulp, N. Watson, H.L. Turner, S. Menis, R.K. Abbott, J.N. Bhiman, M.B. Melo, H.A. Simon, S. Herrera-De la Mata, S. Liang, G. Seumois, Y. Agarwal, N. Li, D.R. Burton, A.B. Ward, W.R. Schief, S. Crotty, D.J. Irvine, Engineered immunogen binding to alum adjuvant enhances humoral immunity, Nat. Med. 26 (2020) 430-440.
- [16] K.M. Cirelli, D.G. Carnathan, B. Nogal, J.T. Martin, O.L. Rodriguez, A.A. Upadhyay, C.A. Enemuo, E.H. Gebru, Y. Choe, F. Viviano, C. Nakao, M.G. Pauthner, S. Reiss, C.A. Cottrell, M.L. Smith, R. Bastidas, W. Gibson, A.N. Wolabaugh, M.B. Melo, B. Cossette, V. Kumar, N.B. Patel, T. Tokatlian, S. Menis, D.W. Kulp, D.R. Burton, B. Murrell, W.R. Schief, S.E. Bosinger, A.B. Ward, C.T. Watson, G. Silvestri, D.J. Irvine, S. Crotty, Slow Delivery Immunization Enhances HIV Neutralizing Antibody and Germinal Center Responses via Modulation of Immunodominance, Cell 177 (2019) 1153-1171.e1128.
- [17] M.O. Dellacherie, B.R. Seo, D.J. Mooney, Macroscale biomaterials strategies for local immunomodulation, Nat. Rev. Mater. 4 (2019) 379-397.
- [18] D.G. Leach, S. Young, J.D. Hartgerink, Advances in immunotherapy delivery from implantable and injectable biomaterials, Acta Biomater 88 (2019) 15-31. [19] S.P. Methot, J.M. Di Noia, Molecular Mechanisms of Somatic Hypermutation
- and Class Switch Recombination, Adv Immunol 133 (2017) 37-87. [20] F. Klein, R. Diskin, J.F. Scheid, C. Gaebler, H. Mouquet, I.S. Georgiev, M. Pancera, T. Zhou, R.B. Incesu, B.Z. Fu, P.N. Gnanapragasam, T.Y. Oliveira, M.S. Seaman, P.D. Kwong, P.J. Bjorkman, M.C. Nussenzweig, Somatic mutations of the immunoglobulin framework are generally required for broad and potent HIV-1 neutralization, Cell 153 (2013) 126-138. [21] K.M. Roskin, K.J.L. Jackson, J.-Y. Lee, R.A. Hoh, S.A. Joshi, K.-K. Hwang, M.
- Bonsignori, I. Pedroza-Pacheco, H.-X. Liao, M.A. Moody, A.Z. Fire, P. Borrow, B. F. Haynes, S.D. Boyd, Aberrant B cell repertoire selection associated with HIV neutralizing antibody breadth, Nat Immunol 21 (2020) 199-209.
- [22] C. Havenar-Daughton, J.H. Lee, S. Crotty, Tfh cells and HIV bnAbs, an immunodominance model of the HIV neutralizing antibody generation problem, Immunol. Rev. 275 (2017) 49–61. A. Shaulov, K. Murali-Krishna, CD8 T cell expansion and memory differentiation are facilitated by simultaneous and sustained exposure to
- [23] antigenic and inflammatory milieu, J. Immunol. 180 (2008) 1131-1138.
- [24] S.L. Demento, W. Cui, J.M. Criscione, E. Stern, J. Tulipan, S.M. Kaech, T.M. Fahmy, Role of sustained antigen release from nanoparticle vaccines in shaping the T cell memory phenotype, Biomaterials 33 (2012) 4957–4964.
- [25] M.F. Bachmann, R.R. Beerli, P. Agnellini, P. Wolint, K. Schwarz, A. Oxenius, Long-lived memory CD8+ T cells are programmed by prolonged antigen exposure and low levels of cellular activation, Eur. J. Immunol. 36 (2006) 842-854
- [26] P. Johansen, T. Storni, L. Rettig, Z. Qiu, A. Der-Sarkissian, K.A. Smith, V. Manolova, K.S. Lang, G. Senti, B. Müllhaupt, T. Gerlach, R.F. Speck, A. Bot, T.M. Kündig, Antigen kinetics determines immune reactivity, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105 (2008) 5189-5194.
- [27] H. Khong, A. Volmari, M. Sharma, Z. Dai, C.S. Imo, Y. Hailemichael, M. Singh, D. T. Moore, Z. Xiao, X.-F. Huang, T.D. Horvath, D.H. Hawke, W.W. Overwijk, Peptide Vaccine Formulation Controls the Duration of Antigen Presentation and Magnitude of Tumor-Specific CD8+ T Cell Response, J. Immunol. 200 (2018) 3464-3474.

Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 187 (2022) 114401

- [28] D.J. Irvine, M.C. Hanson, K. Rakhra, T. Tokatlian, Synthetic Nanoparticles for Vaccines and Immunotherapy, Chem. Rev. 115 (2015) 11109-11146.
- [29] E. Ben-Akiva, S. Est Witte, R.A. Meyer, K.R. Rhodes, J.J. Green, Polymeric microand nanoparticles for immune modulation, Biomaterials, Science 7 (2019) 14-30
- [30] M.J. Mitchell, M.M. Billingsley, R.M. Haley, M.E. Wechsler, N.A. Peppas, R. Langer, Engineering precision nanoparticles for drug delivery, Nat. Rev. Drug Discovery 20 (2021) 101-124.
- [31] F. Chen, Y. Wang, J. Gao, M. Saeed, T. Li, W. Wang, H. Yu, Nanobiomaterialbased vaccination immunotherapy of cancer, Biomaterials 270 (2021) 120709.
- [32] Y. Li, T. Thambi, D.S. Lee, Co-Delivery of Drugs and Genes Using Polymeric Nanoparticles for Synergistic Cancer Therapeutic Effects, Adv Healthc Mater 7 (2018)
- [33] P. Lung, J. Yang, Q. Li, Nanoparticle formulated vaccines: opportunities and challenges, Nanoscale 12 (2020) 5746-5763.
- [34] R. Medhi, P. Srinoi, N. Ngo, H.-V. Tran, T.R. Lee, Nanoparticle-Based Strategies to Combat COVID-19, ACS Appl. Nano Mater. 3 (2020) 8557–8580.
- [35] Z. Wen, F. Liu, Q. Chen, Y. Xu, H. Li, S. Sun, Recent development in biodegradable nanovehicle delivery system-assisted immunotherapy, Biomaterials, Science 7 (2019) 4414-4443.
- [36] E.S. Lee, J.M. Shin, S. Son, H. Ko, W. Um, S.H. Song, J.A. Lee, J.H. Park, Recent Advances in Polymeric Nanomedicines for Cancer Immunotherapy, Adv Healthc Mater 8 (2019) e1801320.
- [37] M.R. Carvalho, R.L. Reis, J.M. Oliveira, Dendrimer nanoparticles for colorectal cancer applications, J. Mater. Chem. B 8 (2020) 1128-1138.
- [38] H.J. Vaughan, J.J. Green, S.Y. Tzeng, Cancer-Targeting Nanoparticles for Combinatorial Nucleic Acid Delivery, Adv. Mater. 32 (2020) 1901081.
- [39] Q. Jin, Z. Liu, Q. Chen, Controlled release of immunotherapeutics for enhanced cancer immunotherapy after local delivery, J. Control. Release 329 (2021) 882-893.
- [40] W. Li, J. Tang, D. Lee, T.R. Tice, S.P. Schwendeman, M.R. Prausnitz, Clinical translation of long-acting drug delivery formulations, Nat. Rev. Mater. (2022).
- [41] C.W. Shields IV, L.-L.-W. Wang, M.A. Evans, S. Mitragotri, Materials for Immunotherapy, Adv. Mater. 32 (2020) 1901633.
- [42] J.M. Lu, X. Wang, C. Marin-Muller, H. Wang, P.H. Lin, Q. Yao, C. Chen, Current advances in research and clinical applications of PLGA-based nanotechnology, Expert Rev Mol Diagn 9 (2009) 325-341.
- [43] C. Martins, F. Sousa, F. Araújo, B. Sarmento, Functionalizing PLGA and PLGA Derivatives for Drug Delivery and Tissue Regeneration Applications, Adv. Healthcare Mater. 7 (2018) 1701035.
- [44] F. Danhier, E. Ansorena, J.M. Silva, R. Coco, A. Le Breton, V. Preat, PLGA-based nanoparticles: an overview of biomedical applications, J Control Release 161 (2012) 505-522.
- [45] S.P. Schwendeman, R.B. Shah, B.A. Bailey, A.S. Schwendeman, Injectable controlled release depots for large molecules, J. Control. Release 190 (2014) 240-253.
- [46] H. Yue, G. Ma, Polymeric micro/nanoparticles: Particle design and potential vaccine delivery applications, Vaccine 33 (2015) 5927-5936.
- [47] P. Malyala, D.T. O'Hagan, Polymeric Particles as Vaccine Delivery Systems, Immunopotentiators in Modern Vaccines, Elsevier (2017) 231-248.
- [48] W. Jiang, R.K. Gupta, M.C. Deshpande, S.P. Schwendeman, Biodegradable poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) microparticles for injectable delivery of vaccine antigens, Adv. Drug. Deliv. Rev. 57 (2005) 391–410. [49] M.J. Alonso, R.K. Gupta, C. Min, G.R. Siber, R. Langer, Biodegradable
- microspheres as controlled-release tetanus toxoid delivery systems, Vaccine 12 (1994) 299-306.
- [50] C. Thomas, A. Rawat, L. Hope-Weeks, F. Ahsan, Aerosolized PLA and PLGA nanoparticles enhance humoral, mucosal and cytokine responses to hepatitis B vaccine Mol Pharm 8 (2011) 405–415
- [51] K.-G.-H. Desai, S.P. Schwendeman, Active self-healing encapsulation of vaccine antigens in PLGA microspheres, J. Control. Release 165 (2013) 62-74.
- [52] S.E. Reinhold, K.-G.-H. Desai, L. Zhang, K.F. Olsen, S.P. Schwendeman, Self-Healing Microencapsulation of Biomacromolecules without Organic Solvents, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 51 (2012) 10800–10803. [53] B.A. Bailey, LJ. Ochyl, S.P. Schwendeman, J.J. Moon, Toward a Single-Dose
- Vaccination Strategy with Self-Encapsulating PLGA Microspheres, Adv Healthc Mater 6 (2017).
- [54] J.M. Desimone, Co-opting Moore's law: Therapeutics, vaccines and interfacially active particles manufactured via PRINT[®], J. Control. Release 240 (2016) 541-543.
- [55] S.W. Metz, S. Tian, G. Hoekstra, X. Yi, M. Stone, K. Horvath, M.J. Miley, J. Desimone, C.J. Luft, A.M. De Silva, Precisely Molded Nanoparticle Displaying DENV-E Proteins Induces Robust Serotype-Specific Neutralizing Antibody Responses, PLoS Negl.Trop. Dis. 10 (2016) e0005071.
- [56] S.N. Mueller, S. Tian, J.M. DeSimone, Rapid and Persistent Delivery of Antigen by Lymph Node Targeting PRINT Nanoparticle Vaccine Carrier To Promote Humoral Immunity, Mol Pharm 12 (2015) 1356–1365.
- [57] A.L. Galloway, A. Murphy, J.M. Desimone, J. Di, J.P. Herrmann, M.E. Hunter, J.P. Kindig, F.J. Malinoski, M.A. Rumley, D.M. Stoltz, T.S. Templeman, B. Hubby, Development of a nanoparticle-based influenza vaccine using the PRINT® technology, Nanomed. Nanotechnol. Biol. Med. 9 (2013) 523-531.
- [58] X. Lu, L. Miao, W. Gao, Z. Chen, K.J. McHugh, Y. Sun, Z. Tochka, S. Tomasic, K. Sadtler, A. Hyacinthe, Y. Huang, T. Graf, Q. Hu, M. Sarmadi, R. Langer, D.G. Anderson, A. Jaklenec, Engineered PLGA microparticles for long-term, pulsatile release of STING agonist for cancer immunotherapy, Sci. Transl. Med. 12 (2020) eaaz6606.

B.S. Ou, O.M. Saouaf, J. Baillet et al.

- [59] K.J. McHugh, T.D. Nguyen, A.R. Linehan, D. Yang, A.M. Behrens, S. Rose, Z.L. Tochka, S.Y. Tzeng, J.J. Norman, A.C. Anselmo, X. Xu, S. Tomasic, M.A. Taylor, J. Lu, R. Guarecuco, R. Langer, A. Jaklenec, Fabrication of fillable microparticles and other complex 3D microstructures, Science 357 (2017) 1138–1142.
- [60] Z.-B. Wang, J. Xu, Better Adjuvants for Better Vaccines: Progress in Adjuvant Delivery Systems Modifications, and Adjuvant-Antigen Codelivery, Vaccines 8 (2020) 128.
- [61] B.G. Carvalho, F.F. Vit, H.F. Carvalho, S.W. Han, L.G. De La Torre, Recent advances in co-delivery nanosystems for synergistic action in cancer treatment, J. Mater. Chem. B 9 (2021) 1208–1237.
- [62] J.M. Stewart, B.G. Keselowsky, Combinatorial drug delivery approaches for immunomodulation, Adv. Drug. Deliv. Rev. 114 (2017) 161–174.
- [63] L.C.W. Lin, C.Y. Huang, B.Y. Yao, J.C. Lin, A. Agrawal, A. Algaissi, B.H. Peng, Y.H. Liu, P.H. Huang, R.H. Juang, Y.C. Chang, C.T. Tseng, H.W. Chen, C.M.J. Hu, Viromimetic STING Agonist-Loaded Hollow Polymeric Nanoparticles for Safe and Effective Vaccination against Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus, Adv. Funct. Mater. 29 (2019) 1807616.
- [64] O.A. Tosyali, A. Allahverdiyev, M. Bagirova, E.S. Abamor, M. Aydogdu, S. Dinparvar, T. Acar, Z. Mustafaeva, S. Derman, Nano-co-delivery of lipophosphoglycan with soluble and autoclaved leishmania antigens into PLGA nanoparticles: Evaluation of in vitro and in vivo immunostimulatory effects against visceral leishmaniasis, Mater. Sci. Eng., C 120 (2021) 111684.
- [65] C.G. Da Silva, M.G.M. Camps, T.M.W.Y. Li, A.B. Chan, F. Ossendorp, L.J. Cruz, Co-delivery of immunomodulators in biodegradable nanoparticles improves therapeutic efficacy of cancer vaccines, Biomaterials 220 (2019) 119417.
- [66] G. Sanita, B. Carrese, A. Lamberti, Nanoparticle Surface Functionalization: How to Improve Biocompatibility and Cellular Internalization, Front Mol Biosci 7 (2020) 587012.
- [67] J.S. Suk, Q. Xu, N. Kim, J. Hanes, L.M. Ensign, PEGylation as a strategy for improving nanoparticle-based drug and gene delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 99 (2016) 28–51.
- [68] M. Hussain, J. Xie, Z. Hou, K. Shezad, J. Xu, K. Wang, Y. Gao, L. Shen, J. Zhu, Regulation of Drug Release by Tuning Surface Textures of Biodegradable Polymer Microparticles, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 9 (2017) 14391–14400.
- [69] J. Zhu, F. Qin, Z. Ji, W. Fei, Z. Tan, Y. Hu, C. Zheng, Mannose-Modified PLGA Nanoparticles for Sustained and Targeted Delivery in Hepatitis B Virus Immunoprophylaxis, AAPS PharmSciTech 21 (2020).
- [70] H. Kim, L. Niu, P. Larson, T.A. Kucaba, K.A. Murphy, B.R. James, D.M. Ferguson, T.S. Griffith, J. Panyam, Polymeric nanoparticles encapsulating novel TLR7/8 agonists as immunostimulatory adjuvants for enhanced cancer immunotherapy, Biomaterials 164 (2018) 38–53.
- [71] A.A.A. Smith, E.C. Gale, G.A. Roth, C.L. Maikawa, S. Correa, A.C. Yu, E.A. Appel, Nanoparticles Presenting Potent TLR7/8 Agonists Enhance Anti-PD-L1 Immunotherapy in Cancer Treatment, Biomacromolecules 21 (2020) 3704– 3712.
- [72] B. Tyler, D. Gullotti, A. Mangraviti, T. Utsuki, H. Brem, Polylactic acid (PLA) controlled delivery carriers for biomedical applications, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 107 (2016) 163–175.
- [73] X. Xie, Y. Hu, T. Ye, Y. Chen, L. Zhou, F. Li, X. Xi, S. Wang, Y. He, X. Gao, W. Wei, G. Ma, Y. Li, Therapeutic vaccination against leukaemia via the sustained release of co-encapsulated anti-PD-1 and a leukaemia-associated antigen, Nat. Biomed. Eng. 5 (2021) 414–428.
- [74] P.M. Boggiatto, R.G. Schaut, C. Kanipe, S.M. Kelly, B. Narasimhan, D.E. Jones, S. C. Olsen, Sustained antigen release polyanhydride-based vaccine platform for immunization against bovine brucellosis, Heliyon 5 (2019) e02370.
- [75] D.A. Wagner, S.M. Kelly, A.C. Petersen, N. Peroutka-Bigus, R.J. Darling, B.H. Bellaire, M.J. Wannemuehler, B. Narasimhan, Single-dose combination nanovaccine induces both rapid and long-lived protection against pneumonic plague, Acta Biomater. 100 (2019) 326–337.
- [76] K. Ross, S. Senapati, J. Alley, R. Darling, J. Goodman, M. Jefferson, M. Uz, B. Guo, K.-J. Yoon, D. Verhoeven, M. Kohut, S. Mallapragada, M. Wannemuehler, B. Narasimhan, Single dose combination nanovaccine provides protection against influenza A virus in young and aged mice, Biomaterials, Science 7 (2019) 809–821.
- [77] J. Tamada, R. Langer, The development of polyanhydrides for drug delivery applications, J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed 3 (1992) 315–353.
- [78] M.J. Kipper, E. Shen, A. Determan, B. Narasimhan, Design of an injectable system based on bioerodible polyanhydride microspheres for sustained drug delivery, Biomaterials 23 (2002) 4405–4412.
- [79] B.D. Ulery, D. Kumar, A.E. Ramer-Tait, D.W. Metzger, M.J. Wannemuehler, B. Narasimhan, Design of a Protective Single-Dose Intranasal Nanoparticle-Based Vaccine Platform for Respiratory Infectious Diseases, PLoS ONE 6 (2011) e17642.
- [80] F. El-Mohtadi, R. D'Arcy, N. Tirelli, Oxidation-Responsive Materials: Biological Rationale, State of the Art, Multiple Responsiveness, and Open Issues, Macromol. Rapid Commun. 40 (2019) 1800699.
- [81] A. Schudel, A.P. Chapman, M.-K. Yau, C.J. Higginson, D.M. Francis, M.P. Manspeaker, A.R.C. Avecilla, N.A. Rohner, M.G. Finn, S.N. Thomas, Programmable multistage drug delivery to lymph nodes, Nat. Nanotechnol. 15 (2020) 491–499.
- [82] S.T. Reddy, A. Rehor, H.G. Schmoekel, J.A. Hubbell, M.A. Swartz, In vivo targeting of dendritic cells in lymph nodes with poly(propylene sulfide) nanoparticles, J. Control. Release 112 (2006) 26–34.
- [83] S.N. Thomas, E. Vokali, A.W. Lund, J.A. Hubbell, M.A. Swartz, Targeting the tumor-draining lymph node with adjuvanted nanoparticles reshapes the anti-tumor immune response, Biomaterials 35 (2014) 814–824.

- [84] C.L. Maikawa, A. Sevit, B. Lin, R.J. Wallstrom, J.L. Mann, A.C. Yu, R.M. Waymouth, E.A. Appel, Block copolymer composition drives function of self-assembled nanoparticles for delivery of small-molecule cargo, J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 57 (2019) 1322–1332.
- [85] M. Ghezzi, S. Pescina, C. Padula, P. Santi, E. Del Favero, L. Cantù, S. Nicoli, Polymeric micelles in drug delivery: An insight of the techniques for their characterization and assessment in biorelevant conditions, J. Control. Release 332 (2021) 312–336.
- [86] A.S. Deshmukh, P.N. Chauhan, M.N. Noolvi, K. Chaturvedi, K. Ganguly, S.S. Shukla, M.N. Nadagouda, T.M. Aminabhavi, Polymeric micelles: Basic research to clinical practice, Int. J. Pharm. 532 (2017) 249–268.
- [87] Z. Wan, R. Zheng, P. Moharil, Y. Liu, J. Chen, R. Sun, X. Song, Q. Ao, Polymeric Micelles in Cancer Immunotherapy, Molecules 26 (2021) 1220.
- [88] C. Li, X. Zhang, Q. Chen, J. Zhang, W. Li, H. Hu, X. Zhao, M. Qiao, D. Chen, Synthetic Polymeric Mixed Micelles Targeting Lymph Nodes Trigger Enhanced Cellular and Humoral Immune Responses, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 10 (2018) 2874–2889.
- [89] X. Sun, G. Wang, H. Zhang, S. Hu, X. Liu, J. Tang, Y. Shen, The Blood Clearance Kinetics and Pathway of Polymeric Micelles in Cancer Drug Delivery, ACS Nano 12 (2018) 6179–6192.
- [90] Q. Hu, E.V.B. Van Gaal, P. Brundel, H. Ippel, T. Hackeng, C.J.F. Rijcken, G. Storm, W.E. Hennink, J. Prakash, A novel approach for the intravenous delivery of leuprolide using core-cross-linked polymeric micelles, J. Control. Release 205 (2015) 98–108.
- [91] F. Liang, K. Lore, Local innate immune responses in the vaccine adjuvantinjected muscle, Clin. Transl. Immunol. 5 (2016) e74.
- [92] S. Iqbal, M. Blenner, A. Alexander-Bryant, J. Larsen, Polymersomes for Therapeutic Delivery of Protein and Nucleic Acid Macromolecules: From Design to Therapeutic Applications, Biomacromolecules 21 (2020) 1327–1350.
- [93] E. Rideau, R. Dimova, P. Schwille, F.R. Wurm, K. Landfester, Liposomes and polymersomes: a comparative review towards cell mimicking, Chem. Soc. Rev. 47 (2018) 8572–8610.
- [94] J. Leong, J.Y. Teo, V.K. Aakalu, Y.Y. Yang, H. Kong, Engineering Polymersomes for Diagnostics and Therapy, Adv. Healthcare Mater. 7 (2018) 1701276.
- [95] D. Zhu, C. Hu, F. Fan, Y. Qin, C. Huang, Z. Zhang, L. Lu, H. Wang, H. Sun, X. Leng, C. Wang, D. Kong, L. Zhang, Co-delivery of antigen and dual agonists by programmed mannose-targeted cationic lipid-hybrid polymersomes for enhanced vaccination, Biomaterials 206 (2019) 25–40.
- [96] A. Stano, E.A. Scott, K.Y. Dane, M.A. Swartz, J.A. Hubbell, Tunable T cell immunity towards a protein antigen using polymersomes vs. solid-core nanoparticles, Biomaterials 34 (2013) 4339–4346.
- [97] M. Rincon-Restrepo, A. Mayer, S. Hauert, D.K. Bonner, E.A. Phelps, J.A. Hubbell, M.A. Swartz, S. Hirosue, Vaccine nanocarriers: Coupling intracellular pathways and cellular biodistribution to control CD4 vs CD8 T cell responses, Biomaterials 132 (2017) 48–58.
- [98] B. Wang, S. Van Herck, Y. Chen, X. Bai, Z. Zhong, K. Deswarte, B.N. Lambrecht, N.N. Sanders, S. Lienenklaus, H.W. Scheeren, S.A. David, F. Kiessling, T. Lammers, B.G. De Geest, Y. Shi, Potent and Prolonged Innate Immune Activation by Enzyme-Responsive Imidazoquinoline TLR7/8 Agonist Prodrug Vesicles, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 142 (2020) 12133–12139.
- [99] M. Geszke-Moritz, M. Moritz, Solid lipid nanoparticles as attractive drug vehicles: Composition, properties and therapeutic strategies, Mater. Sci. Eng., C 68 (2016) 982–994.
- [100] L.O. De Serrano, D.J. Burkhart, Liposomal vaccine formulations as prophylactic agents: design considerations for modern vaccines, J. Nanobiotechnol. 15 (2017).
- [101] Y. Singh, J.G. Meher, K. Raval, F.A. Khan, M. Chaurasia, N.K. Jain, M.K. Chourasia, Nanoemulsion: Concepts, development and applications in drug delivery, J. Control. Release 252 (2017) 28–49.
- [102] B.N. Aldosari, I.M. Alfagih, A.S. Almurshedi, Lipid Nanoparticles as Delivery Systems for RNA-Based Vaccines, Pharmaceutics 13 (2021) 206.
- [103] T.S. Patil, A.S. Deshpande, Mannosylated nanocarriers mediated site-specific drug delivery for the treatment of cancer and other infectious diseases: A state of the art review, J. Control. Release 320 (2020) 239–252.
- [104] L. Rahnfeld, P. Luciani, Injectable Lipid-Based Depot Formulations: Where Do We Stand?, Pharmaceutics 12 (2020) 567
- [105] R. Nisini, N. Poerio, S. Mariotti, F. De Santis, M. Fraziano, The Multirole of Liposomes in Therapy and Prevention of Infectious Diseases, Front. Immunol. 9 (2018).
- [106] H. Wang, D.J. Mooney, Biomaterial-assisted targeted modulation of immune cells in cancer treatment, Nat. Mater. 17 (2018) 761–772.
- [107] M. Henriksen-Lacey, V.W. Bramwell, D. Christensen, E.-M. Agger, P. Andersen, Y. Perrie, Liposomes based on dimethyldioctadecylammonium promote a depot effect and enhance immunogenicity of soluble antigen, J. Control. Release 142 (2010) 180–186.
- [108] Y. Zhuang, Y. Ma, C. Wang, L. Hai, C. Yan, Y. Zhang, F. Liu, L. Cai, PEGylated cationic liposomes robustly augment vaccine-induced immune responses: Role of lymphatic trafficking and biodistribution, J. Control. Release 159 (2012) 135–142.
- [109] R. Kaur, V.W. Bramwell, D.J. Kirby, Y. Perrie, Pegylation of DDA:TDB liposomal adjuvants reduces the vaccine depot effect and alters the Th1/Th2 immune responses, J. Control. Release 158 (2012) 72–77.
- [110] D. Christensen, L. Bøllehuus Hansen, R. Leboux, W. Jiskoot, J.P. Christensen, P. Andersen, J. Dietrich, A Liposome-Based Adjuvant Containing Two Delivery Systems with the Ability to Induce Mucosal Immunoglobulin A Following a Parenteral Immunization, ACS Nano (2019).

- [111] D. Witzigmann, J.A. Kulkarni, J. Leung, S. Chen, P.R. Cullis, R. Van Der Meel, Lipid nanoparticle technology for therapeutic gene regulation in the liver, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 159 (2020) 344–363.
- [112] E. Samaridou, J. Heyes, P. Lutwyche, Lipid nanoparticles for nucleic acid delivery: Current perspectives, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 154–155 (2020) 37–63.
 [113] J. Kim, Y. Eygeris, M. Gupta, G. Sahay, Self-assembled mRNA vaccines, Adv.
- Drug Deliv. Rev. 170 (2021) 83–112. [114] M.L. Guevara, F. Persano, S. Persano, Advances in Lipid Nanoparticles for
- mRNA-Based Cancer Immunotherapy, Front. Chem. 8 (2020) 589559. [115] A.V. Li, J.J. Moon, W. Abraham, H. Suh, J. Elkhader, M.A. Seidman, M. Yen, E.-J.
- [115] A.V. Li, J.J. Moon, W. Abraham, H. Suh, J. Elkhader, M.A. Seidman, M. Yen, E.-J. Im, M.H. Foley, D.H. Barouch, D.J. Irvine, Generation of Effector Memory T Cell-Based Mucosal and Systemic Immunity with Pulmonary Nanoparticle Vaccination, Sci. Transl. Med. 5 (2013) 204ra130–204ra201.
- [116] S.B. Rizwan, W.T. Mcburney, K. Young, T. Hanley, B.J. Boyd, T. Rades, S. Hook, Cubosomes containing the adjuvants imiquimod and monophosphoryl lipid A stimulate robust cellular and humoral immune responses, J. Control. Release 165 (2013) 16–21.
- [117] J.J. Moon, H. Suh, A. Bershteyn, M.T. Stephan, H. Liu, B. Huang, M. Sohail, S. Luo, S. Ho Um, H. Khant, J.T. Goodwin, J. Ramos, W. Chiu, D.J. Irvine, Interbilayer-crosslinked multilamellar vesicles as synthetic vaccines for potent humoral and cellular immune responses, Nat. Mater. 10 (2011) 243–251.
- [118] M. Matbou Riahi, A. Sahebkar, K. Sadri, S. Nikoofal-Sahlabadi, M.R. Jaafari, Stable and sustained release liposomal formulations of celecoxib: In vitro and in vivo anti-tumor evaluation, Int. J. Pharm. 540 (2018) 89–97.
- [119] H.M.G. Barriga, M.N. Holme, M.M. Stevens, Cubosomes: The Next Generation of Smart Lipid Nanoparticles?, Angew Chem. Int. Ed. 58 (2019) 2958–2978.
- [120] A.M. Reichmuth, M.A. Oberli, A. Jaklenec, R. Langer, D. Blankschtein, mRNA vaccine delivery using lipid nanoparticles, Therapeutic Delivery 7 (2016) 319–334.
- [121] N. Pardi, M.J. Hogan, F.W. Porter, D. Weissman, mRNA vaccines a new era in vaccinology, Nat. Rev. Drug Discovery 17 (2018) 261–279.
- [122] N. Pardi, S. Tuyishime, H. Muramatsu, K. Kariko, B.L. Mui, Y.K. Tam, T.D. Madden, M.J. Hope, D. Weissman, Expression kinetics of nucleoside-modified mRNA delivered in lipid nanoparticles to mice by various routes, J Control Release 217 (2015) 345–351.
- [123] M.D. Buschmann, M.J. Carrasco, S. Alishetty, M. Paige, M.G. Alameh, D. Weissman, Nanomaterial Delivery Systems for mRNA Vaccines, Vaccines 9 (2021) 65.
- [124] Z. Lyu, L. Ding, A.-Y.-T. Huang, C.-L. Kao, L. Peng, Poly(amidoamine) dendrimers: covalent and supramolecular synthesis, Mater. Today Chem. 13 (2019) 34–48.
- [125] P. Kesharwani, A.K. Iyer, Recent advances in dendrimer-based nanovectors for tumor-targeted drug and gene delivery, Drug Discovery Today 20 (2015) 536–547.
- [126] L. Palmerston Mendes, J. Pan, V. Torchilin, Dendrimers as Nanocarriers for Nucleic Acid and Drug Delivery in Cancer Therapy, Molecules 22 (2017) 1401.
 [127] A. Chauhan, Dendrimers for Drug Delivery, Molecules 23 (2018) 938.
- [128] J.S. Chahal, O.F. Khan, C.L. Cooper, J.S. Mcpartlan, J.K. Tsosie, L.D. Tilley, S.M. Sidik, S. Lourido, R. Langer, S. Bavari, H.L. Ploegh, D.G. Anderson, Dendrimer-RNA nanoparticles generate protective immunity against lethal Ebola, H1N1 influenza, and Toxoplasma gondii challenges with a single dose, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 113 (2016) E4133–E4142.
- [129] L. Han, R. Huang, J. Li, S. Liu, S. Huang, C. Jiang, Plasmid pORF-hTRAIL and doxorubicin co-delivery targeting to tumor using peptide-conjugated polyamidoamine dendrimer, Biomaterials 32 (2011) 1242–1252.
- [130] Z. Zhou, X. Ma, C.J. Murphy, E. Jin, Q. Sun, Y. Shen, E.A. Van Kirk, W.J. Murdoch, Molecularly Precise Dendrimer-Drug Conjugates with Tunable Drug Release for Cancer Therapy, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 53 (2014) 10949–10955.
- [131] H. Kulhari, D. Pooja, M.K. Singh, A.S. Chauhan, Optimization of carboxylateterminated poly(amidoamine) dendrimer-mediated cisplatin formulation, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 41 (2015) 232–238.
- [132] P. Kesharwani, R.K. Tekade, N.K. Jain, Generation dependent cancer targeting potential of poly(propyleneimine) dendrimer, Biomaterials 35 (2014) 5539– 5548.
- [133] A.E. Czapar, B.D.B. Tiu, F.A. Veliz, J.K. Pokorski, N.F. Steinmetz, Slow-Release Formulation of Cowpea Mosaic Virus for In Situ Vaccine Delivery to Treat Ovarian Cancer, Adv. Sci. 5 (2018) 1700991.
- [134] C. Wang, S.N. Fiering, N.F. Steinmetz, Cowpea Mosaic Virus Promotes Anti-Tumor Activity and Immune Memory in a Mouse Ovarian Tumor Model, Adv. Therap. 2 (2019) 1900003.
- [135] S. Shukla, C. Wang, V. Beiss, N.F. Steinmetz, Antibody Response against Cowpea Mosaic Viral Nanoparticles Improves In Situ Vaccine Efficacy in Ovarian Cancer, ACS Nano 14 (2020) 2994–3003.
- [136] Y. Tahara, K. Akiyoshi, Current advances in self-assembled nanogel delivery systems for immunotherapy, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 95 (2015) 65–76.
- [137] S. Ahmed, K. Alhareth, N. Mignet, Advancement in nanogel formulations provides controlled drug release, Int. J. Pharm. 584 (2020) 119435.
- [138] Y. Yin, B. Hu, X. Yuan, L. Cai, H. Gao, Q. Yang, Nanogel: A Versatile Nano-Delivery System for Biomedical Applications, Pharmaceutics 12 (2020) 290.
- [139] S. Hajebi, N. Rabiee, M. Bagherzadeh, S. Ahmadi, M. Rabiee, H. Roghani-Mamaqani, M. Tahriri, L. Tayebi, M.R. Hamblin, Stimulus-responsive polymeric nanogels as smart drug delivery systems, Acta Biomater. 92 (2019) 1–18.
- [140] Z. Li, J. Huang, J. Wu, pH-Sensitive nanogels for drug delivery in cancer therapy, Biomaterials, Science 9 (2021) 574–589.

- [141] D. Li, C.F. Van Nostrum, E. Mastrobattista, T. Vermonden, W.E. Hennink, Nanogels for intracellular delivery of biotherapeutics, J. Control. Release 259 (2017) 16–28.
- [142] C. Wang, P. Li, L. Liu, H. Pan, H. Li, L. Cai, Y. Ma, Self-adjuvanted nanovaccine for cancer immunotherapy: Role of lysosomal rupture-induced ROS in MHC class I antigen presentation, Biomaterials 79 (2016) 88–100.
- [143] B. Aderibigbe, T. Naki, Design and Efficacy of Nanogels Formulations for Intranasal Administration, Molecules 23 (2018) 1241.
- [144] J.C. Cuggino, E.R.O. Blanco, L.M. Gugliotta, C.I. Alvarez Igarzabal, M. Calderón, Crossing biological barriers with nanogels to improve drug delivery performance, J. Control. Release 307 (2019) 221–246.
- [145] J. Li, D.J. Mooney, Designing hydrogels for controlled drug delivery, Nat. Rev. Mater. 1 (2016) 16071.
- [146] W.A. Li, B.Y. Lu, L. Gu, Y. Choi, J. Kim, D.J. Mooney, The effect of surface modification of mesoporous silica micro-rod scaffold on immune cell activation and infiltration, Biomaterials 83 (2016) 249–256.
- [147] A. Singh, N.A. Peppas, Hydrogels and Scaffolds for Immunomodulation, Adv. Mater. 26 (2014) 6530–6541.
- [148] G.A. Roth, E.C. Gale, M. Alcántara-Hernández, W. Luo, E. Axpe, R. Verma, Q. Yin, A.C. Yu, H. Lopez Hernandez, C.L. Maikawa, A.A.A. Smith, M.M. Davis, B. Pulendran, J. Idoyaga, E.A. Appel, Injectable Hydrogels for Sustained Codelivery of Subunit Vaccines Enhance Humoral Immunity, ACS Central Sci. 6 (2020) 1800–1812.
- [149] J. Chen, B. Wang, J.S. Caserto, K. Shariati, P. Cao, Y. Pan, Q. Xu, M. Ma, Sustained Delivery of SARS-CoV-2 RBD Subunit Vaccine Using a High Affinity Injectable Hydrogel Scaffold, Adv. Healthcare Mater. 11 (2022) 2101714.
- [150] G.A. Roth, O.M. Saouaf, A.A.A. Smith, E.C. Gale, M.A. Hernández, J. Idoyaga, E.A. Appel, Prolonged Codelivery of Hemagglutinin and a TLR7/8 Agonist in a Supramolecular Polymer-Nanoparticle Hydrogel Enhances Potency and Breadth of Influenza Vaccination, ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng. 7 (2021) 1889– 1899.
- [151] C. Korupalli, W.Y. Pan, C.Y. Yeh, P.M. Chen, F.L. Mi, H.W. Tsai, Y. Chang, H.J. Wei, H.W. Sung, Single-injecting, bioinspired nanocomposite hydrogel that can recruit host immune cells in situ to elicit potent and long-lasting humoral immune responses, Biomaterials 216 (2019) 119268.
- [152] S. Correa, A.K. Grosskopf, H. Lopez Hernandez, D. Chan, A.C. Yu, L.M. Stapleton, E.A. Appel, Translational Applications of Hydrogels, Chemical Reviews, (2021).
- [153] M.J. Webber, E.T. Pashuck, (Macro)molecular self-assembly for hydrogel drug delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 172 (2021) 275–295.
- [154] S. Bobbala, V. Tamboli, A. Mcdowell, A.K. Mitra, S. Hook, Novel Injectable Pentablock Copolymer Based Thermoresponsive Hydrogels for Sustained Release Vaccines, AAPS J. 18 (2016) 261–269.
- [155] F. Yang, K. Shi, Y. Jia, Y. Hao, J. Peng, L. Yuan, Y. Chen, M. Pan, Z. Qian, A biodegradable thermosensitive hydrogel vaccine for cancer immunotherapy, Appl. Mater. Today 19 (2020) 100608.
- [156] A.L.Z. Lee, C. Yang, S. Gao, J.L. Hedrick, Y.Y. Yang, Subcutaneous vaccination using injectable biodegradable hydrogels for long-term immune response, Nanomedicine 21 (2019) 102056.
- [157] Y. Yin, X. Li, H. Ma, J. Zhang, D. Yu, R. Zhao, S. Yu, G. Nie, H. Wang, In Situ Transforming RNA Nanovaccines from Polyethylenimine Functionalized Graphene Oxide Hydrogel for Durable Cancer Immunotherapy, Nano Lett. 21 (2021) 2224–2231.
- [158] M.M. Pakulska, I. Elliott Donaghue, J.M. Obermeyer, A. Tuladhar, C.K. Mclaughlin, T.N. Shendruk, M.S. Shoichet, Encapsulation-free controlled release: Electrostatic adsorption eliminates the need for protein encapsulation in PLGA nanoparticles, Sci. Adv. 2 (2016) e1600519.
- [159] S. De Koker, J. Cui, N. Vanparijs, L. Albertazzi, J. Grooten, F. Caruso, B.G. De Geest, Engineering Polymer Hydrogel Nanoparticles for Lymph Node-Targeted Delivery, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 55 (2016) 1334–1339.
- [160] E.A. Appel, M.W. Tibbitt, M.J. Webber, B.A. Mattix, O. Veiseh, R. Langer, Selfassembled hydrogels utilizing polymer-nanoparticle interactions, Nat. Commun. 6 (2015) 6295.
- [161] Z. Sun, J. Liang, X. Dong, C. Wang, D. Kong, F. Lv, Injectable Hydrogels Coencapsulating Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor and Ovalbumin Nanoparticles to Enhance Antigen Uptake Efficiency, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 10 (2018) 20315–20325.
- [162] O.M. Saouaf, G.A. Roth, B.S. Ou, A.A.A. Smith, A.C. Yu, E.C. Gale, A.K. Grosskopf, V.C.T.M. Picece, E.A. Appel, Modulation of injectable hydrogel properties for slow co-delivery of influenza subunit vaccine components enhance the potency of humoral immunity, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part A (2021).
- [163] E.C. Gale, L.J. Lahey, V. Böhnert, A.E. Powell, B.S. Ou, J.A. Carozza, L. Li, E.A. Appel, A cGAMP-containing hydrogel for prolonged SARS-CoV-2 RBD subunit vaccine exposure induces a broad and potent humoral response, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 2021.
- [164] E.C. Gale, A.E. Powell, G.A. Roth, E.L. Meany, J. Yan, B.S. Ou, A.K. Grosskopf, J. Adamska, V.C.T.M. Picece, A.I. D'Aquino, B. Pulendran, P.S. Kim, E.A. Appel, Hydrogel-Based Slow Release of a Receptor-Binding Domain Subunit Vaccine Elicits Neutralizing Antibody Responses Against SARS-CoV-2, Adv. Mater. 33 (2021) 2104362.
- [165] Y.P. Jia, K. Shi, F. Yang, J.F. Liao, R.X. Han, L.P. Yuan, Y. Hao, M. Pan, Y. Xiao, Z.Y. Qian, X.W. Wei, Multifunctional Nanoparticle Loaded Injectable Thermoresponsive Hydrogel as NIR Controlled Release Platform for Local Photothermal Immunotherapy to Prevent Breast Cancer Postoperative Recurrence and Metastases, Adv. Funct. Mater. 30 (2020) 2001059.

- [166] A. Famili, K. Rajagopal, Bio-Orthogonal Cross-Linking Chemistry Enables In Situ Protein Encapsulation and Provides Sustained Release from Hyaluronic Acid Based Hydrogels, Mol. Pharm. 14 (2017) 1961–1968.
- [167] C.S. Verbeke, S. Gordo, D.A. Schubert, S.A. Lewin, R.M. Desai, J. Dobbins, K.W. Wucherpfennig, D.J. Mooney, Multicomponent Injectable Hydrogels for Antigen-Specific Tolerogenic Immune Modulation, Adv. Healthcare Mater. 6 (2017) 1600773.
- [168] J. Yuan, L. Guo, S. Wang, D. Liu, X. Qin, L. Zheng, C. Tian, X. Han, R. Chen, R. Yin, Preparation of self-assembled nanoparticles of ε-polylysine-sodium alginate: A sustained-release carrier for antigen delivery, Colloids Surf., B 171 (2018) 406–412.
- [169] J. Wei, W. Xue, X. Yu, X. Qiu, Z. Liu, pH Sensitive phosphorylated chitosan hydrogel as vaccine delivery system for intramuscular immunization, J. Biomater. Appl. 31 (2017) 1358–1369.
- [170] T.Y. Shih, S.O. Blacklow, A.W. Li, B.R. Freedman, S. Bencherif, S.T. Koshy, M.C. Darnell, D.J. Mooney, Injectable Tough Alginate Cryogels as Cancer Vaccines, Adv. Healthcare Mater. 7 (2018) 1701469.
- [171] C.I. Nkanga, O.A. Ortega-Rivera, M.D. Shin, M.A. Moreno-Gonzalez, N.F. Steinmetz, Injectable Slow-Release Hydrogel Formulation of a Plant Virus-Based COVID-19 Vaccine Candidate, Biomacromolecules 23 (2022) 1812– 1825.
- [172] K.M. Hainline, C.N. Fries, J.H. Collier, Progress Toward the Clinical Translation of Bioinspired Peptide and Protein Assemblies, Adv. Healthc. Mater. 7 (2018).
- [173] C. Yang, F. Shi, C. Li, Y. Wang, L. Wang, Z. Yang, Single Dose of Protein Vaccine with Peptide Nanofibers As Adjuvants Elicits Long-Lasting Antibody Titer, ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng. 4 (2018) 2000–2006.
- [174] B.M. Friedrich, D.W.C. Beasley, J.S. Rudra, Supramolecular peptide hydrogel adjuvanted subunit vaccine elicits protective antibody responses against West Nile virus, Vaccine 34 (2016) 5479–5482.
- [175] Y. Umeki, M. Saito, Y. Takahashi, Y. Takakura, M. Nishikawa, Retardation of Antigen Release from DNA Hydrogel Using Cholesterol-Modified DNA for Increased Antigen-Specific Immune Response, Adv. Healthcare Mater. 6 (2017) 1700355.
- [176] H. Song, P. Huang, J. Niu, G. Shi, C. Zhang, D. Kong, W. Wang, Injectable polypeptide hydrogel for dual-delivery of antigen and TLR3 agonist to modulate dendritic cells in vivo and enhance potent cytotoxic T-lymphocyte response against melanoma, Biomaterials 159 (2018) 119–129.
- [177] Z. Sun, C. Song, C. Wang, Y. Hu, J. Wu, Hydrogel-Based Controlled Drug Delivery for Cancer Treatment: A Review, Mol. Pharm. (2020).
- [178] M.E. Wechsler, R.E. Stephenson, A.C. Murphy, H.F. Oldenkamp, A. Singh, N.A. Peppas, Engineered microscale hydrogels for drug delivery, cell therapy, and sequencing, Biomed. Microdevices 21 (2019).
- [179] A.C. Daly, L. Riley, T. Segura, J.A. Burdick, Hydrogel microparticles for biomedical applications, Nat. Rev. Mater. 5 (2020) 20–43.
- [180] H. Jung, D. Kim, Y.Y. Kang, H. Kim, J.B. Lee, H. Mok, CpG incorporated DNA microparticles for elevated immune stimulation for antigen presenting cells, RSC Adv. 8 (2018) 6608–6615.
- [181] L.P.B. Guerzoni, J. Bohl, A. Jans, J.C. Rose, J. Koehler, A.J.C. Kuehne, L. De Laporte, Microfluidic fabrication of polyethylene glycol microgel capsules with tailored properties for the delivery of biomolecules, Biomater. Sci. 5 (2017) 1549–1557.
- [182] L. Yu, Q. Sun, Y. Hui, A. Seth, N. Petrovsky, C.-X. Zhao, Microfluidic formation of core-shell alginate microparticles for protein encapsulation and controlled release, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 539 (2019) 497–503.
- [183] T.E. Rinker, B.D. Philbrick, J.S. Temenoff, Core-shell microparticles for protein sequestration and controlled release of a protein-laden core, Acta Biomater. 56 (2017) 91–101.
- [184] M. Graf, C.E. Ziegler, M. Gregoritza, A.M. Goepferich, Hydrogel microspheres evading alveolar macrophages for sustained pulmonary protein delivery, Int. J. Pharm. 566 (2019) 652–661.
- [185] E. Jooybar, M.J. Abdekhodaie, A. Mousavi, B. Zoetebier, P.J. Dijkstra, Enzymatically crosslinked hyaluronic acid microgels as a vehicle for sustained delivery of cationic proteins, Eur. Polym. J. 115 (2019) 234–243.
- [186] Y.Q. Wang, J. Wu, Q.Z. Fan, M. Zhou, Z.G. Yue, G.H. Ma, Z.G. Su, Novel vaccine delivery system induces robust humoral and cellular immune responses based on multiple mechanisms, Adv. Healthc Mater. 3 (2014) 670–681.
- [187] C.K. Jons, A.K. Grosskopf, J. Baillet, J. Yan, J.H. Klich, E.A. Appel, Yield-Stress and Creep Control Depot Formation and Persistence of Injectable Hydrogels Following Subcutaneous Administration, bioRxiv, (2022) 2022.2004.2020.488959.
- [188] S. Marshall, L.J. Sahm, A.C. Moore, The success of microneedle-mediated vaccine delivery into skin, Hum. Vaccin. Immunother. 12 (2016) 2975–2983.
- [189] A.M. Rodgers, A.S. Cordeiro, R.F. Donnelly, Technology update: dissolvable microneedle patches for vaccine delivery, Med. Dev. (Auckl) 12 (2019) 379– 398.
- [190] K. van der Maaden, W. Jiskoot, J. Bouwstra, Microneedle technologies for (trans)dermal drug and vaccine delivery, J. Control Release 161 (2012) 645– 655.
- [191] X. Hong, L. Wei, F. Wu, Z. Wu, L. Chen, Z. Liu, W. Yuan, Dissolving and biodegradable microneedle technologies for transdermal sustained delivery of drug and vaccine, Drug Des. Devel. Ther. 7 (2013) 945–952.
- [192] A.H. Sabri, Y. Kim, M. Marlow, D.J. Scurr, J. Segal, A.K. Banga, L. Kagan, J.B. Lee, Intradermal and transdermal drug delivery using microneedles – Fabrication, performance evaluation and application to lymphatic delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 153 (2020) 195–215.

- [193] H. Amani, M.-A. Shahbazi, C. D'Amico, F. Fontana, S. Abbaszadeh, H.A. Santos, Microneedles for painless transdermal immunotherapeutic applications, J. Control. Release 330 (2021) 185–217.
- [194] R.L. Creighton, K.A. Woodrow, Microneedle-Mediated Vaccine Delivery to the Oral Mucosa, Adv. Healthcare Mater. (2018) 1801180.
- [195] D. Li, D. Hu, H. Xu, H.K. Patra, X. Liu, Z. Zhou, J. Tang, N. Slater, Y. Shen, Progress and perspective of microneedle system for anti-cancer drug delivery, Biomaterials 264 (2021) 120410.
- [196] Z. Chen, J. He, J. Qi, Q. Zhu, W. Wu, Y. Lu, Long-acting microneedles: a progress report of the state-of-the-art techniques, Drug Discovery Today 25 (2020) 1462–1468.
- [197] T. Liu, G. Luo, M. Xing, Biomedical Applications of Polymeric Microneedles for Transdermal Therapeutic Delivery and Diagnosis: Current Status and Future Perspectives, Adv. Therap. 3 (2020) 1900140.
- [198] R. Jamaledin, P. Makvandi, C.K.Y. Yiu, T. Agarwal, R. Vecchione, W. Sun, T.K. Maiti, F.R. Tay, P.A. Netti, Engineered Microneedle Patches for Controlled Release of Active Compounds: Recent Advances in Release Profile Tuning, Adv. Therap. 3 (2020) 2000171.
- [199] Y. Ye, J. Yu, D. Wen, A.R. Kahkoska, Z. Gu, Polymeric microneedles for transdermal protein delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 127 (2018) 106–118.
- [200] J.C. Joyce, H.E. Sella, H. Jost, M.J. Mistilis, E.S. Esser, P. Pradhan, R. Toy, M.L. Collins, P.A. Rota, K. Roy, I. Skountzou, R.W. Compans, M.S. Oberste, W.C. Weldon, J.J. Norman, M.R. Prausnitz, Extended delivery of vaccines to the skin improves immune responses, J. Control Release 304 (2019) 135–145.
- [201] M.-C. Chen, S.-F. Huang, K.-Y. Lai, M.-H. Ling, Fully embeddable chitosan microneedles as a sustained release depot for intradermal vaccination, Biomaterials 34 (2013) 3077–3086.
- [202] P.C. DeMuth, Y. Min, D.J. Irvine, P.T. Hammond, Implantable silk composite microneedles for programmable vaccine release kinetics and enhanced immunogenicity in transcutaneous immunization, Adv. Healthc. Mater. 3 (2014) 47–58.
- [203] K.T.M. Tran, T.D. Gavitt, N.J. Farrell, E.J. Curry, A.B. Mara, A. Patel, L. Brown, S. Kilpatrick, R. Piotrowska, N. Mishra, S.M. Szczepanek, T.D. Nguyen, Transdermal microneedles for the programmable burst release of multiple vaccine payloads, Nat. Biomed. Eng. (2020).
- [204] P.C. Demuth, W.F. Garcia-Beltran, M.L. Ai-Ling, P.T. Hammond, D.J. Irvine, Composite dissolving microneedles for coordinated control of antigen and adjuvant delivery kinetics in transcutaneous vaccination, Adv. Funct. Mater. 23 (2013) 161–172.
- [205] S.P. Sullivan, D.G. Koutsonanos, M. Del Pilar Martin, J.W. Lee, V. Zarnitsyn, S.O. Choi, N. Murthy, R.W. Compans, I. Skountzou, M.R. Prausnitz, Dissolving polymer microneedle patches for influenza vaccination, Nat. Med. 16 (2010) 915–920.
- [206] M. Pearton, D. Pirri, S.M. Kang, R.W. Compans, J.C. Birchall, Host responses in human skin after conventional intradermal injection or microneedle administration of virus-like-particle influenza vaccine, Adv. Healthc. Mater. 2 (2013) 1401–1410.
- [207] E.V. Vassilieva, S. Li, H. Korniychuk, D.M. Taylor, S. Wang, M.R. Prausnitz, R.W. Compans, cGAMP/Saponin Adjuvant Combination Improves Protective Response to Influenza Vaccination by Microneedle Patch in an Aged Mouse Model, Front. Immunol. 11 (2021).
- [208] P.M. Frew, M.B. Paine, N. Rouphael, J. Schamel, Y. Chung, M.J. Mulligan, M.R. Prausnitz, Acceptability of an inactivated influenza vaccine delivered by microneedle patch: Results from a phase I clinical trial of safety, reactogenicity, and immunogenicity, Vaccine 38 (2020) 7175–7181.
- [209] S. Ray, D.M. Wirth, O.A. Ortega-Rivera, N.F. Steinmetz, J.K. Pokorski, Dissolving Microneedle Delivery of a Prophylactic HPV Vaccine, Biomacromolecules 23 (2022) 903–912.
- [210] D.D. Zhu, X.P. Zhang, B.L. Zhang, Y.Y. Hao, X.D. Guo, Safety Assessment of Microneedle Technology for Transdermal Drug Delivery: A Review, Adv. Therap. 3 (2020) 2000033.
- [211] J. Arya, S. Henry, H. Kalluri, D.V. Mcallister, W.P. Pewin, M.R. Prausnitz, Tolerability, usability and acceptability of dissolving microneedle patch administration in human subjects, Biomaterials 128 (2017) 1–7.
- [212] Y. Si, Q. Tian, F. Zhao, S.H. Kelly, L.S. Shores, D.F. Camacho, A.I. Sperling, M.S. Andrade, J.H. Collier, A.S. Chong, Adjuvant-free nanofiber vaccine induces in situ lung dendritic cell activation and T_H17 responses, Sci. Adv. 6 (2020) eaba0995.
- [213] C.N. Fries, Y. Wu, S.H. Kelly, M. Wolf, N.L. Votaw, S. Zauscher, J.H. Collier, Controlled Lengthwise Assembly of Helical Peptide Nanofibers to Modulate CD8+ T-Cell Responses, Adv. Mater. 32 (2020) 2003310.
- [214] N.L. Votaw, L. Collier, E.J. Curvino, Y. Wu, C.N. Fries, M.T. Ojeda, J.H. Collier, Randomized peptide assemblies for enhancing immune responses to nanomaterials, Biomaterials 273 (2021) 120825.
- [215] S.H. Kelly, E.E. Opolot, Y. Wu, B. Cossette, A.K. Varadhan, J.H. Collier, Tabletized Supramolecular Assemblies for Sublingual Peptide Immunization, Adv. Healthc Mater. 10 (2021) e2001614.
- [216] S.H. Kelly, Y. Wu, A.K. Varadhan, E.J. Curvino, A.S. Chong, J.H. Collier, Enabling sublingual peptide immunization with molecular self-assemblies, Biomaterials 241 (2020) 119903.
- [217] D.C. Luther, R. Huang, T. Jeon, X. Zhang, Y.-W. Lee, H. Nagaraj, V.M. Rotello, Delivery of drugs, proteins, and nucleic acids using inorganic nanoparticles, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 156 (2020) 188–213.
- [218] J. Li, Y. Luo, B. Li, Y. Xia, H. Wang, C. Fu, Implantable and Injectable Biomaterial Scaffolds for Cancer Immunotherapy, Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 8 (2020) 612950.

- [219] J. Kim, W.A. Li, Y. Choi, S.A. Lewin, C.S. Verbeke, G. Dranoff, D.J. Mooney, Injectable, spontaneously assembling, inorganic scaffolds modulate immune cells in vivo and increase vaccine efficacy, Nat. Biotechnol. 33 (2015) 64–72.
- [220] K.L. Hess, I.L. Medintz, C.M. Jewell, Designing inorganic nanomaterials for vaccines and immunotherapies, Nano Today 27 (2019) 73–98.
- [221] X. Li, X. Wang, A. Ito, Tailoring inorganic nanoadjuvants towards next-generation vaccines, Chem. Soc. Rev. 47 (2018) 4954–4980.
 [222] G. Yang, S.Z.F. Phua, A.K. Bindra, Y. Zhao, Degradability and Clearance of
- [222] G. Yang, S.Z.F. Phua, A.K. Bindra, Y. Zhao, Degradability and Clearance of Inorganic Nanoparticles for Biomedical Applications, Adv. Mater. 31 (2019) 1805730.
- [223] K. Lu, T. Aung, N. Guo, R. Weichselbaum, W. Lin, Nanoscale Metal-Organic Frameworks for Therapeutic, Imaging, and Sensing Applications, Adv. Mater. 30 (2018) 1707634.
- [224] T. Wen, G. Quan, B. Niu, Y. Zhou, Y. Zhao, C. Lu, X. Pan, C. Wu, Versatile Nanoscale Metal-Organic Frameworks (nMOFs): An Emerging 3D Nanoplatform for Drug Delivery and Therapeutic Applications, Small 17 (2021) 2005064.
- [225] K. Ni, T. Luo, G.T. Nash, W. Lin, Nanoscale Metal-Organic Frameworks for Cancer Immunotherapy, Acc Chem Res 53 (2020) 1739–1748.
- [226] Y. Zhang, F. Wang, E. Ju, Z. Liu, Z. Chen, J. Ren, X. Qu, Metal-Organic-Framework-Based Vaccine Platforms for Enhanced Systemic Immune and Memory Response, Adv. Funct. Mater. 26 (2016) 6454–6461.

- [227] M.A. Luzuriaga, R.P. Welch, M. Dharmarwardana, C.E. Benjamin, S. Li, A. Shahrivarkevishahi, S. Popal, L.H. Tuong, C.T. Creswell, J.J. Gassensmith, Enhanced Stability and Controlled Delivery of MOF-Encapsulated Vaccines and Their Immunogenic Response In Vivo, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 11 (2019) 9740–9746.
- [228] H. Zhang, J. Zhang, Q. Li, A. Song, H. Tian, J. Wang, Z. Li, Y. Luan, Site-specific MOF-based immunotherapeutic nanoplatforms via synergistic tumor cellstargeted treatment and dendritic cells-targeted immunomodulation, Biomaterials 245 (2020) 119983.
- [229] X. Zhong, Y. Zhang, L. Tan, T. Zheng, Y. Hou, X. Hong, G. Du, X. Chen, Y. Zhang, X. Sun, An aluminum adjuvant-integrated nano-MOF as antigen delivery system to induce strong humoral and cellular immune responses, J. Control. Release 300 (2019) 81–92.
- [230] Y. Zhang, C. Liu, F. Wang, Z. Liu, J. Ren, X. Qu, Metal–organic-frameworksupported immunostimulatory oligonucleotides for enhanced immune response and imaging, Chem. Commun. 53 (2017) 1840–1843.
- [231] Y.B. Miao, W.Y. Pan, K.H. Chen, H.J. Wei, F.L. Mi, M.Y. Lu, Y. Chang, H.W. Sung, Engineering a Nanoscale Al-MOF-Armored Antigen Carried by a "Trojan Horse"-Like Platform for Oral Vaccination to Induce Potent and Long-Lasting Immunity, Adv. Funct. Mater. 29 (2019) 1904828.